# The clinicopathological potential of Ki67 labeling index in breast cancer

PhD thesis

# Balázs Ács M.D.

Doctoral School of Pathological Sciences Semmelweis University



Supervisor: Attila Marcell Szász M.D., Ph.D., consultant pathologist

Official reviewers: Lilla Reiniger M.D., Ph.D., assistant professor Ilona Kovács M.D., Ph.D., consultant pathologist, head of division

Head of the Final Examination Committee: Péter Nagy M.D., D.Sc., professor

Members of the Final Examination Committee: Katalin Dezső M.D., Ph.D., assistant professor László Landherr M.D., Ph.D., consultant oncologist, head of division

Budapest 2017

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST	OF	ABBREVIATIONS
1. IN	TRO	<i>DUCTION</i>
1.1	. ]	Epidemiology of breast cancer5
1.2	2. ]	Diagnosis of breast cancer
1.3	<b>3.</b> :	Subtypes of breast cancer
1.4	<b>.</b> ]	Prognostic and predictive factors of breast cancer in daily practice
1.5	5. '	Therapy of breast cancer 11
	1.5.1	. Surgery
	1.5.2	Radiation therapy
	1.5.3	Adjuvant therapy 11
	1.5.4	. Neoadjuvant therapy
1.6	<b>6.</b> 1	Ki67: Gene, function, detection, role in breast cancer
	1.6.1	. Ki67 gene, structure, function
	1.6.2	Detection of Ki67 14
	1.6.3	. Ki67 in breast tissues
	1.6.4	. Ki67 and its relationship with other markers of breast cancer 16
	1.6.5	. Ki67 in breast cancer: Prognostic and predictive potential 16
	1.6.6	. Standardization efforts of the application of Ki67 in daily practice
2.	OBJI	ECTIVES
<b>3</b> . 1	MET	HODS
3.1	l <b>.</b> ]	Patients
3.2	2. '	Tissue preparation
3.3	<b>3.</b> ]	Immunohistochemistry 23
3.4	I. ;	Semi-quantitative evaluation of Ki67 reactions
3.5	5. ]	Digital image analysis of Ki67 reactions25
3.6	<b>5.</b>	Statistical analysis

# DOI:10.14753/SE.2018.2164

<i>4</i> .	RES	ULTS	28
4	4.1.	The validity of five Ki67 antibodies	. 31
	4.1.1	. Comparison of Ki67 LI score of the different antibodies	. 31
	4.1.2	. Concordance of Ki67 LI score of the different antibodies	. 33
	4.1.3	. Capacity of the different Ki67 antibodies to predict disease-free survival	36
4	4.2.	The reproducibility between different Ki67 evaluations	. 42
	4.2.1	. Comparison of semi-quantitative (SQ) evaluations	. 42
	4.2.2	. Comparison of digital image analyses (DIA) evaluations	. 48
	4.2.3	. Comparison of semi-quantitative (SQ) and digital image analyses (D	IA)
	evalu	ations in prognosis prediction	. 48
4	4.3.	The role of Ki67 in neoadjuvant setting	. 53
	4.3.1	. Defining cut-off points for Ki67 LI in the pCR and pNR groups	. 53
	4.3.2	. Defining cut-off points for Ki67 LI based on survival (DMFS and OS)	. 53
	4.3.3	Association between Ki67 LI, subtype and pathological response	55
	4.3.4	. Prognostic potential of Ki67 LI, subtype and pathological response	. 59
	4.3.5	. Ki67 LI in the partial responder group (pPR)	61
5.	DISC	CUSSION	64
6.	CON	CLUSIONS	80
7.	SUM	MARY	81
8.	ÖSSZ	ZEFOGLALÁS	82
9.	BIBI	LIOGRAPHY	83
10.	BI	BLIOGRAPHY OF THE CANDIDATE'S PUBLICATIONS	103
	10.1.	Publications related to the PhD thesis 1	103
	10.2.	Publications not related to the PhD thesis1	104
AC	CKNOW	VLEDGEMENTS	107

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ASCO	American Society of Clinical Oncology
CCC	Concordance correlation coefficient
СК	Cytokeratin
DCIS	Ductal carcinoma in situ
DFS	Disease-free survival
DIA	Digital image analysis
DMFS	Distant metastases-free survival
ER	Estrogen receptor
ESMO	European Society for Medical Oncology
FDA	US Food and Drug Administration
FFPE	Formalin-fixed paraffin embedded
FISH	Fluorescent in situ hybridization
FNAB	Fine-needle aspiration biopsy
HER2	Human epidermal growth factor 2
HR	Hormone receptor
ICC	Intra-class correlation coefficient
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
Ki67 LI	Ki67 labeling index
NAC	Neoadjuvant chemotherapy
NPI	Nottingham Prognostic Index
NQ	NuclearQuant
OS	Overall survival
pCR	Pathologic complete response (to neoadjuvant therapy)
PgR	Progesterone receptor
pNR	No response to neoadjuvant therapy
pPR	Partial response to neoadjuvant therapy
PQ	PatternQuant
ROC	Receiver operating characteristic
RT-qPCR	Real-time quantitative reverse-transcription analysis
SQ	Semi-quantitative evaluation
TMA	Tissue microarray

# DOI:10.14753/SE.2018.2164

TNBC Triple-negative breast cancer

WHO World Health Organization

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1. Epidemiology of breast cancer

Breast cancer represents a major public health issue globally ranking as the 1st of the most frequently occurring cancers among women with over 1,600,000 new cases annually estimated from GLOBOCAN statistics in 2012 [1]. Each year, more than 500,000 women die of breast cancer, making it the first-leading cause of cancer related deaths among women worldwide (Figure 1A) [1].





Figure 1: Incidence and mortality of the most common cancers among women worldwide (A) and in Hungary (B). Source of the data: GLOBOCAN [1] and National Cancer Registry Database [2] 2012.

#### DOI:10.14753/SE.2018.2164

In Hungary with over 7000 new cases and 1900 deaths per year, breast cancer is the most commonly diagnosed cancer and the third-leading cause of death after lung and colorectal malignancies among women (Figure 1B) [1,2]. The mortality of breast cancer is decreasing from the 1990's because of spreading of breast cancer screening and emerging new therapies. However, the morbidity of breast cancer shows an increasing trend as mean age rising as well as obesity, early menarche and childbearing in later age are getting more common in societies.

#### 1.2. Diagnosis of breast cancer

Finding breast cancer early and getting appropriate cancer treatment are the most important strategies to decrease the mortality of breast cancer. Since many women with breast cancer have no symptoms, the diagnosis of breast cancer often begins with lesion found on x-ray mammography screening test. Breast cancer is sometimes found on a routine clinical – or self-examination when a new lump appears. This is followed by a breast ultrasound test, or when the clinical picture is ambiguous, a magnetic resonance imaging [3]. The only way to confirm a potentially malignant breast lesion detected on imaging test is performing biopsy. The most widely used biopsy techniques are core biopsy and fine-needle aspiration biopsy (FNAB). While only cells are obtained with FNAB, core biopsy allows to examine the histological structures as well. Furthermore, molecular tests are more commonly applied on core biopsy samples and thus used for clinical decision making. Based on the results of imaging and biopsy tests, the multidisciplinary team reviews the medical condition and sets up treatment options for each patient individually. The management of breast cancer requires close cooperation of different disciplines. Therefore, multidisciplinary oncoteam includes oncologist, surgeon, radiologist, radiation oncologist and pathologist.

#### 1.3. Subtypes of breast cancer

It has long been known that breast cancer cannot be considered as a homogenous disease but rather a group of heterogeneous tumors in the same anatomical localization [4]. Breast tumors originate from the epithelial - or the mesenchymal tissue of the breast. Histologically, breast cancer classification is performed according to the regularly updated atlas of the World Health Organization (WHO) considering the

tumor's morphological characteristics [5]. The clear majority of malignant breast tumors arise from the epithelium. The most common is invasive breast carcinoma no special type (NST), then invasive lobular carcinoma, followed by many 'special types' such as tubular, medullary, mucinous, micropapillary, metaplastic carcinoma, etc. [6]. This heterogeneity has brought to the fore the concept, that gene defects and failure of gene regulatory networks driving to carcinogenesis and metastases might show stronger association with the phenotype and clinical behavior of tumors than the morphological classification. In the last decade, various molecular techniques have been used increasingly to help refine breast cancer classification. The pioneer studies have proposed a new description of the heterogeneous group of breast cancers at the molecular level by cDNA microarray analyses revealing several molecular/intrinsic subtypes beyond the traditional hormone receptor (HR)+ and HR – types [7,8]. The most reproducibly defined intrinsic subtypes among the HR+ cancers are the luminal A and luminal B subgroups [9]. The human epidermal growth factor 2 (HER2)-enriched and basal-like subgroups are the major intrinsic subtypes identified among HR- breast cancers [9]. The rationale underlying this classification is that these breast cancer molecular subtypes differ in their gene expression patterns, clinical features, prognosis and response to treatment (Table 1) [9,10].

Despite the discovery of these intrinsic subtypes, the immunohistochemical (IHC) expression of estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PgR), Her2 and the HER2 gene amplification detected by fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH) are used to assess breast cancers in clinical practice [9,11]. This approach is most widely used to approximate the intrinsic subtypes of breast cancer, as defined by gene expression profiling because of financial reason and because it clearly defines whether an actual breast cancer can be treated with targeted therapy [11]. In the surrogate definitions of intrinsic subtypes, the ER+ tumors can be divided into luminal A-like and luminal B-like groups based on the IHC expression of ER, PgR, Her2, Ki67 and/or HER2 gene amplification [9,11,12]. In ER- tumors, HER2 and Triple-negative (TNBC) subtypes are distinguished based on the IHC expression of Her2 and/or HER2 gene amplification. Both subgroups are characterized by negative IHC reactions of ER and PgR. Ki67 expression may vary in the ER- subgroups therefore has no relevance in therapy decision making (Table 1) [9,11,12].

Intrinsic	Clinicopathologic surrogate definition	Notos						
subtypes [9]	(based on IHC and FISH tests) [12]	INOLES						
		ER + <sup>a</sup> , HER2 –, PgR high <sup>b</sup> , low						
Luminal A	Luminal A-like	Ki67 <sup>°</sup> , low-risk molecular						
		signature <sup>d</sup>						
		$ER + {}^{a}$ , $HER2 -$ , $PgR low {}^{b}$ or						
ID	Luminal B-like HER2 –	high Ki67 <sup> c</sup> , high-risk molecular						
Luminal B		signature <sup>d</sup>						
		ER + <sup>a</sup> , HER2 +, any PgR, any						
HER2-	Luminal B-like HEK2 +	Ki67						
enriched	HR – and HER2 +	ER/PgR – and HER2 +						
Basal-like	TNBC	ER/PgR – and HER2 –						
	$^{\mathbf{a}}\mathbf{ER}+\geq1\%$							
<sup>b</sup> Suggested threshold: 20%								
	<sup>c</sup> Ki67 threshold varies between laboratories							
	<sup>d</sup> if available							

Table 1: Subtypes of breast cancer.

1.4. Prognostic and predictive factors of breast cancer in daily practice

Breast cancer represents great diversity not only in its morphological and molecular features but also in its prognosis [13]. Several studies have shown that the histological subtypes have different prognosis [14-16]. Mucinous, tubular, medullary, invasive cribriform, infiltrating lobular, tubulo-lobular, adenoid cystic carcinoma, and low grade adenosquamous carcinoma have all been reported to have a more favorable prognosis than invasive carcinoma NST [14-22]. Primary soft tissue sarcoma of the breast is very rare and usually associated with poor outcome [23].

Age is one of the most important risk factor for breast cancer. As the age is rising, the probability of developing cancer is increasing [24]. However, many studies indicated the adverse risk related to younger age as breast cancer is rarer in young women, but if it occurs, it is often presenting with advanced stage resulting in poor prognosis [25].

It has long been known that the size of the tumor and the regional lymph node involvement are strongly linked to the prognosis of breast cancer [26,27]. Smaller tumor holds the promise of higher chance for complete recovery. However, smaller tumors with early lymph node metastases have more unfavorable prognosis compared to larger tumors without lymph node involvement [28].

The clinical and pathological stage (TNM) comprising the size of the tumor (T), lymph node status (N) and presence of metastasis (M) largely determines the course of breast cancer as well as the treatment options [29].

During routine microscopic examination of breast cancer, pathologists evaluate histologic grade (tubular differentiation + nuclear pleomorphism + mitotic count), lymphatic – and blood vessel invasion, Nottingham Prognostic Index (NPI = /0.2 x tumor size in cm/ + lymph node stage + tumor grade) that are strong and easily assessed prognostic factors [30-32].

IHC examinations may help breast cancer classification, as E-cadherin expression is absent in most lobular cancers distinguishing lobular and NST cancers in equivocal cases [33-35]. Cytokeratin (CK) 5/6, CK14 and p63 are used to reveal basal/ myoepithelial origin of breast cancer [36-38]. The IHC and/or FISH detection of ER, PgR and Her2 forms the backbone of the clinical management of breast cancer as they not just assign the surrogate intrinsic subtypes referring to prognosis but also basically define treatment options [12]. The IHC detection of p53 has prognostic potential as p53+ tumors have unfavorable prognosis, but they also show better response to chemotherapy [39,40]. However, p53 has not been included in the compulsory routine IHC tests. High Ki67 expression in tumor cells means higher proliferation capacity that has been linked to poor prognosis [41,42]. Various gene mutations have been linked to the genesis and prognosis of breast cancer, such as TP53, BRCA1 and 2, CDH1 etc. [43,44].

Although evaluation of individual prognostic and predictive factors has allowed the identification of clinically distinct subgroups of patients with breast cancer, there is urgent need to evolve a comprehensive profile of the biological and molecular characteristics of breast cancer that may improve assessment of prognosis and prediction of response to therapies in individual patients [9]. During the last few decades, several platforms of multigene classifiers have been developed to identify

9

patients with favorable prognosis, who can omit chemotherapy, and those with poor prognosis and higher risk of metastasis [9]. Several tests are now commercially available as follows: MammaPrint (Agendia, Amsterdam, Netherlands) is a microarray test approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) applying a set of 70 genes to accurately predict poor prognosis disease for patients with TNM stage 1 or 2, node-negative, invasive breast cancer of tumor size  $\leq 5$  cm [45,46]. The 76-gene signature test of Veridex investigating 60 genes for patients with ER-positive disease and 16 genes for ER-negative disease has a strong prognostic factor for 5 years' distant metastasis free survival [47]. MapQuant Dx (Ipsogen SA, Marseille, France) can stratify grade II breast carcinomas into grade I-like and grade III-like cancers in ER+ disease [48,49]. All three assays are based on DNA microarrays and require fresh or frozen samples implying a challenge in the daily practice and in prospective validation studies [10]. The technique of real-time quantitative reverse-transcription analysis (RT-qPCR) has also been used for developing prognostic assays extracting RNA from formalinfixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) tissue samples, thus relieving the sample procurement [10]. The simplified version of MapQuant Dx, Oncotype DX, and Theros platforms are using this method to predict prognosis [50-53]. The prognostic use of Oncotype DX is supported by level I evidence, and this test has been included in the National Comprehensive Cancer Network - and in the American Society of Clinical Oncology guidelines as a predictor of recurrence and a guide when making therapeutic decisions among early ER positive node negative breast cancers [54]. The largest criticism raised against these assays is that despite similar prognostic and/or predictive value, there is very little overlap in the genes included in these tests [55]. Furthermore, several studies demonstrate that a part of clinically diagnosed and validated breast cancers with Her2 + phenotype are not stratified into the HER2-enriched subtype by gene expression assays. Vice versa, a part of breast cancers characterized as HER2-enriched subtype do not occur as a Her2 + breast cancer in the daily practice [56-61]. Increasing evidence confirms that the expression of proliferation genes in luminal cancers does not form distinct subgroups (luminal A and luminal B) but a continuum. Thus, stratifying breast cancers into two luminal subgroups based on gene expression assays is artificial [56,62]. The prognostic information of these assays are almost exclusively based on the expression of the proliferation-related genes [54]. Considering the latter and that these assays are too expensive to be widely applied, the question can be raised whether the use of cost-effective and widely available proliferation markers (e.g.: Ki67) should receive greater emphasis in daily practice.

# 1.5. Therapy of breast cancer

## 1.5.1. Surgery

The surgical treatment of primary breast cancer has been shifted to breast-conservation treatment. In some patients, mastectomy is implemented due to: Tumor size, multicentricity of the tumor, positive surgical margins after multiple resections, contraindications to radiation therapy, or patient choice. The biopsy of the sentinel lymph nodes is now the standard of care instead of full axillary nodal clearance, unless axillary node involvement is confirmed. However, axillary dissection can be omitted for patients with one or two metastatic sentinel lymph nodes [12,63].

## 1.5.2. Radiation therapy

Postoperative radiation therapy is indicated after breast-conservation surgery. Shorter fractionation schemes (15–16 fractions with 2.5–2.67 Gy single dose) have been confirmed in large studies and are generally indicated. Boost (tumor bed) irradiation further reduces the risk by 50% and it is recommended for patients with factors indicating high risk of local recurrence. Post-mastectomy radiation therapy is indicated for patients with involved axillary nodes and/or with T3–T4 tumors. Axillary irradiation is recommended for patients with involved lymph nodes [12,63].

# 1.5.3. Adjuvant therapy

The decision on systemic adjuvant therapies is based on the surrogate intrinsic phenotype determined by ER/PgR, HER2 and Ki67 assessment or on the genomic-based intrinsic subtype.

Endocrine therapy (anti-estrogens, selective estrogen receptor modulators, aromatase inhibitors) should be offered for all breast cancer patients with detectable ER expression ( $\geq 1\%$  of invasive cancer cells).

Chemotherapy of breast cancer usually includes four to eight cycles of anthracyclineand/or taxane-based regimen. Sequential use of anthracyclines and taxanes is preferred over concomitant use. Chemotherapy is indicated in most of triple-negative, HER2positive breast cancers. For luminal B-like Her2– tumors, the indications for chemotherapy are based on the individual risk of relapse (e.g.: High Ki67). Luminal Blike Her2+ tumors should be treated with chemotherapy, endocrine therapy and Her2 targeted therapies. Most luminal A-like tumors, except those with T3/T4 size and extensive nodal involvement, require no chemotherapy. Her2 subtype (HR–) benefit from chemotherapy and Her2 targeted therapies. Triple-negative tumors should be treated with chemotherapy, with possible exclusion of low-risk subtypes such as adenoid cystic carcinomas [12,63].

## 1.5.4. Neoadjuvant therapy

In breast cancer cases with large tumor size and/or with locally advanced stage, neoadjuvant therapy may allow for achieving operability or decreasing the extent of surgery. All modalities (chemotherapy, endocrine therapy and targeted therapy) applied in adjuvant treatment may also be used in neoadjuvant setting. If chemotherapy is used, it is recommended to deliver all planned treatment without unnecessary breaks, irrespective of the magnitude of tumor response. In this case, the probability of achieving a pathologic complete remission is increased. Although neoadjuvant therapy has not been shown to improve survival superior to those of postoperative adjuvant therapy alone, there is increasing support for neoadjuvant cytotoxic therapy in Stage II triple-negative subtype. In HER2+ breast cancer especially with larger size, Her2 targeted therapy should be started in the neoadjuvant setting, combined with taxanebased chemotherapy. In patients with luminal breast cancer, neoadjuvant cytotoxic chemotherapy is not supported unless to achieve breast conservation surgery, since ER+ and Her2- tumors are usually less responsive to primary chemotherapy compared to Her2+ subtype. However, neoadjuvant endocrine therapy is generally given to postmenopausal women with breast cancer for 4 months preoperatively and continued adjuvant after surgery for 5 to 10 years [12,63].

1.6. Ki67: Gene, function, detection, role in breast cancer

#### 1.6.1. Ki67 gene, structure, function

The Ki67 antigen was originally described by Gerdes et al. in the 1980s, by use of a mouse monoclonal antibody against a nuclear antigen from a Hodgkin's lymphomaderived cell line L428 [64]. It was finally identified by the same group in 1991 and this non-histone protein was named after the researchers' location, Ki as Kiel University, Germany and the 67 label referring to the clone number on the 96-well plate [64]. The complete gene locus of the Ki67 protein, encompassing a 74 basepairs (bp) 5' region and a 264 bp 3' region, has been sequenced and aligned to a continuous sequence of 29 965 bp length located on the long arm of human chromosome 10 (10q25-ter). The gene comprises 15 exons with sizes from 67 to 6845 bp and 14 introns with sizes from 87 to 3569 bp. Three introns consist homologue copies of "Alu-repeats". Exon 13 at the "center" of this gene is composed of 16 homologous segments with 366 bp (called Ki67 repeats), each including a highly-conserved motif of 66 bp (Ki67 motif). This is highly conserved between species and nine of the Ki67 motif regions contain a highly immunogenic five amino acid sequence that forms the epitope which is the target of several Ki67 antibodies like MIB1 and SP6. Two Ki67 protein isoforms with molecular weights of 345 and 395 kDa have been described [65-68]. The cellular location of Ki67 protein is strongly cell cycle-dependent: The protein is found primarily in the nucleolar cortex and in the dense fibrillar components of the nucleolus during interphase; during mitosis, it becomes linked with the periphery of the condensed chromosomes [69-71]. The half-life of the Ki67 protein has been found to be approximately 60-90 minutes, regardless of the cell position in the cell cycle making it a feasible marker of proliferating cells [72,73]. During the different cell-cycle phases, the expression of Ki67 varies: Its levels are low during the G1 and early S phase and rise to their peak level in mitosis. Later during mitotic phase (anaphase and telophase), a sharp decrease in Ki67 expression levels occurs. These differences seem to reflect variable de novo synthesis and not due to the accumulation of non-degraded proteins. It is not expressed during the resting phase G0 [74,75]. The exact function of Ki67 is not known. Studies have described the involvement of Ki67 in the early steps of polymerase I dependent rRNA synthesis and its important function in cell division [76,77]. Ki67 protein is

phosphorylated via serine and threonine and its inhibition results in the arrest of cell proliferation [70,72,78].

#### 1.6.2. Detection of Ki67

There are two approaches for measuring Ki67 expression in breast cancer: (i) a quantitative analysis of the Ki67 (MKI67) mRNA content form frozen or FFPE samples; and (ii) determining the percentage of Ki67 positive cancer cells detected by IHC. Only few data are available about the comparison of RNA and IHC based Ki67 measurement in the same samples. A study reported weak correlation between Ki67 measurements of RT-qPCR and ICH detection in breast cancer [79]. Tan et al. has found significant correlation between Ki67 gene expression levels and IHC results of cases with Ki67 score of >10% [80]. Strong linear association was found between the recurrence score and Ki67 IHC results in a study investigating 53 breast cancer cases [81]. However, the IHC staining for Ki67 detection has the following advantages compared to RNA based method: Only cancer cells are considered when the pathologist assesses the IHC Ki67 score and inflammatory- or stromal cells showing positivity can be excluded. Besides this, the IHC method is widely available and relatively inexpensive [82]. Thus, in daily practice, Ki67 is most often measured on FFPE sections by IHC method.

In general, scoring systems of Ki67 IHC detection are based on the percentage of tumor cells stained by the antibody. In one method, the pathologist examines three to ten high-power fields (×40), counts at least 1000 tumor cells with a standard light microscope and the Ki67 labeling index (Ki67 LI) is defined as the percentage of total number of tumor cells with nuclear staining [83]. However, counting 1000 tumor cells is time-consuming and monotonous. Therefore, in the daily pathological practice this approach has limitations [84]. Thus, some pathologists estimate the percentage of positive tumor cells in different areas of the tumor giving an overall Ki67 LI. However, estimating the percentage of tumor cells has high chance of failure, which might lead to results with low reproducibility [84].

It is also important to note that throughout the cell cycle, the localization and the pattern of IHC Ki67 positivity varies. In early G1 phase the IHC reaction is granular/focal in the nucleus, while in late G1 phase the positivity is seen in the nucleolus. In G2 phase

the reaction is granular/focal or diffuse in the nucleus and in the S phase both the nucleolus and nucleus are positive. In the M prophase there is a fine net-like positive reaction in the nucleus, while in the M metaphase the positivity occurs on the surface of the chromosomes and following breakdown of the nuclear membrane some cytoplasmic positivity may also be detected [85]. Consequently, Ki67 LI should include all types of nuclear staining irrespective of the intranuclear localization (nuclear or nucleolar or nucleolar or nucleolar or diffuse) and regardless of intensity [82].

One of the greatest challenges in Ki67 scoring is the selection of fields for evaluating because of the variations in cellular proliferation caused by intra-tumoral heterogeneity. In addition to spatial heterogeneity, a temporal heterogeneity may also occur because of neoadjuvant therapy [86-88]. Tumor heterogeneity is one of the causes for high inter-observer variability. Because of this, at least 500-1000 tumor cells should be evaluated when giving Ki67 LI to achieve an acceptable error rate [89].

#### 1.6.3. Ki67 in breast tissues

Ki67 is expressed in normal breast tissue at low level (<3%) [90]. Numerous studies have reported that ER expression and Ki67 antigen are detected in separate cell populations in normal human breast epithelium. It is an important observation that Ki67 is expressed exclusively in ER-negative breast epithelial cells, which means that ER-positive luminal cells do not proliferate in normal human breast tissue. This separation between ER expression and proliferation does not exist in malignant breast tissue [91]. The association has been described between expression of Ki67 and breast density as well as with precancerous lesions [92,93]. Moreover, the continuous increase of Ki67 expression has been found from benign breast disease to ductal carcinoma in situ to invasive breast cancer [94-96].

It has also been shown that Ki67 expression decreased when aromatase inhibitor was given concomitantly in a study investigating high-risk women [97].

High levels of Ki67 expression were found in about 40% of ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS). Increased Ki67 levels are associated with comedo necrosis, higher grade lesions, presence of microinvasion as well as the recurrence of DCIS [98,99].

Ki67 expression is one of the parameters that can help to distinguish several rare subtypes of breast cancers: The lipid-rich and sebaceous breast carcinomas typically express high Ki67 levels [100,101]. Invasive lobular cancer usually shows a low Ki67 index, and some researchers found low Ki67 level associated with the prognosis of lobular carcinoma [102].

#### 1.6.4. Ki67 and its relationship with other markers of breast cancer

Many studies have demonstrated a strong correlation between Ki67 and histological grade [103-105]. However, this relation is not so surprising, since the mitotic index is one of the three components of histological grade [30]. Both Ki67 and mitotic index are widely applied in the daily practice to measure proliferation. However, some authors propone the use of Ki67 as prognostic marker superior to mitotic index because mitotic index is more subject to individual evaluation as distinguishing apoptotic- and mitotic figures is not always certain [84]. The association between lymph node status and Ki67 has also been intensively investigated and several studies involving large number of patients have revealed a positive correlation [106-108]. The relation between tumor size and Ki67 has also been demonstrated [109]. The HR status has been found to have an inverse relation with Ki67, so that ER and PgR positivity is mostly found in the least proliferating tumors [107,110,111]. The association between Ki67 and Her2 expression is controversial [112-114]. Mutation of p53 oncogene is mostly found in breast cancers expressing higher levels of Ki67 [115].

#### 1.6.5. Ki67 in breast cancer: Prognostic and predictive potential

Several studies were published about the importance of proliferation measured by Ki67 expression in breast cancer, including the Oncotype DX that measures gene expression level of KI67 as one of the 16 genes [51,116,117]. Furthermore, the proliferation group is the mostly weighted in the algorithm of the Recurrence Score [51]. It has been long acknowledged - and more recently several studies have demonstrated - that the immunohistochemical detection of the Ki67 positive cells provides important prognostic information in breast cancer [118-120]. In one of the largest studies, Petrelli et al. [121] performed a systematic review of the literature which was followed by a meta-analysis of the involved studies. In total, 41 studies enrolling more than 64,000 patients were

investigated. Although different cut-off points in a range between 10% to >25% were applied, the study has shown that elevated levels of Ki67 are independently associated with adverse outcome in patients with breast cancer [121]. Moreover, breast pathologists had been undertaking retrospective studies for showing that Ki67 LI was almost as good as the Oncotype DX for the prediction of prognosis in ER + breast cancer cohorts [116,120,122]. However the optimal threshold of Ki67 LI is still uncertain: The St. Gallen Consensus Conference in 2013 recommended a 20% cut-off to distinguish between HER2 negative luminal B-like and luminal A-like breast carcinomas [123], while the majority of the panel in 2015 intended to accept a Ki67 LI threshold of 20-29% [63]. However, the panel also acknowledged that the threshold between Ki67 high and low breast cancers varies between laboratories [63]. Cserni G. et al suggested that different thresholds may be generated for different clinical purposes [124]. According to Denkert et.al. [89], an optimal threshold of Ki67 does not exist, because many cut-off points have a similar prognostic performance. Thus, they recommend to use Ki67 LI as a continuous marker, which reflects the biology of tumor proliferation [89]. In contrast to the guidelines of The St. Gallen Consensus Conference, the International Ki67 in Breast Cancer Working Group is more cautious about the recommendation of Ki67 in daily practice [116]. The European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO) Clinical Practice Guidelines suggests that Ki67 may provide useful information, if the assay can be standardized [125]. The American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) did not recommend the use of Ki67 for prognosis in newly diagnosed breast cancer patients because of lack of reproducibility across laboratories [126,127].

In addition to ongoing debate on its prognostic utility, Ki67 has also been investigated as a potential predictive marker in neoadjuvant and adjuvant settings. For neoadjuvant chemotherapy of breast cancer, Ki67 was significantly associated with clinical or pathological response in several studies [84,128]. However, in a recent research involving 506 breast cancer patients, Ki67 did not represent an independent predictive potential for neoadjuvant therapy [129]. In contrast to this, the systematic review by Luporsi et al. has determined a level of evidence of II-B for Ki67 regarding neoadjuvant treatment response [120]. The other setting for prediction of response to therapy is the evaluation of survival in adjuvant studies. In adjuvant setting, the predictive role of Ki67 is even more uncertain. In the IBCSG 8/9 trial, no predictive potential of Ki67 for response to chemotherapy vs. no chemotherapy was found [130]. The elevated Ki67 was associated with a higher efficacy of docetaxel in PACS01 [131], but the evaluation of BCIRG001 did not confirm this [132]. The controversial predictive potential of Ki67 between neoadjuvant and adjuvant settings was addressed in the review by Denkert et al. expounding that Ki67 affects in opposite directions for assessment of prognosis and for assessment of response to neoadjuvant therapy [89]. ]. An elevated level of Ki67 is associated to unfavorable prognosis, as well as to better response to neoadjuvant therapy. It has also been shown that in some, but not all breast cancer subtypes, response to neoadjuvant therapy is linked to improved prognosis [89]. These two contrary effects cause an overlap in adjuvant studies. Thus, it is not possible to separate the negative prognostic effect of high Ki67 in non-responding cases from the positive prognostic effect of high Ki67 tumors that respond to therapy [89]. The authors also suggest distinguishing three groups of tumors in relation with Ki67 expression and responsiveness to therapy as follows: i) low Ki67 tumors that do not respond to chemotherapy but also have a good prognosis i.e.: Luminal A-like subtype (Low Ki67 associated with good outcome). ii) High Ki67 tumors with response to chemotherapy has better outcome (high Ki67 associated to favorable outcome) compared to iii) high Ki67 tumors that are chemotherapy-resistant (high Ki67 associated to poor outcome) [89].

#### 1.6.6. Standardization efforts of the application of Ki67 in daily practice

Ki67 is currently one of the most promising yet controversial biomarker in breast cancer [133]. Despite the promise of Ki67 as a prognostic and/or predictive tool, controversy exists regarding its applied methodology in clinical practice. Therefore, there is an urgent need for reproducible methodology and consistent scoring methods of Ki67 LI. To overcome this struggle, the International Ki67 in Breast Cancer Working Group has introduced a recommendation for the application of Ki67 IHC in daily practice [116]. According to this, parameters that predominantly influence the IHC results of Ki67 include pre-analytical, analytical, interpretation and scoring, and data analysis steps [116].

Several pre-analytical issues might negatively affect Ki67 measurement as follows: Type of biopsy, time to fixation, type of fixative, time in fixative, and how the specimen is stored for long term [116]. Two studies have found that in general, Ki67 IHC has better tolerance in preanalytical variability than other IHC assays [134,135]. However, alterations in the appearance of stained nuclei were observed: The well-fixed core biopsies showed well-circumscribed, uniformly stained nuclei, while highly variable staining was found in nuclei of poorly-fixed specimens [116]. Tissue handling guidelines that are already established for ER (8–72 hours of neutral buffered formalin fixation) are adequate for Ki67 IHC [116].

The analytical issues of Ki67 IHC encompass the type of the used Ki67 antibody and IHC protocol. Ki67 IHC is most often performed using the MIB1 antibody and the International Ki67 in Breast Cancer Working Group has endorsed its use in daily practice [84,116]. However, little emphasis had been put so far on a very evident technical question, namely, are all commercially available Ki67 antibodies detecting the same amount of proliferating tumor cells in each case? Can we use the different antibodies interchangeably? Most published studies concluded that there are indeed differences between the protein expression levels of different Ki67 antibodies; however, the different results were not linked to the prognosis [136-139]. Regarding IHC protocol, positive and negative controls should be used in each group of Ki67 IHC; positive nuclei of non-malignant cells and mitotic figures provide the quality of a section. The best evidence supports the use of heat-induced antigen retrieval by microwave processing [116]. Chromogen development and counterstaining for Ki67 IHC do not differ from other antigen - antibody systems. The chromogenic staining needs optimization as negative nuclei represent usually the clear majority of overall cell population [116]. Thus, weak counterstaining can lead to overestimation of the Ki67 LI. Difficulties in evaluating immunoreactions can also be responsible for discrepancies of Ki67 scoring reproducibility. Ki67 LI values are usually defined as the percentage of positive tumor cell nuclei, counted in 3-10 high-power fields by testing at least 500-1000 tumor cells [116]. Another method is to estimate the mean Ki67 LI in the entire lesion. Both methods are monotonous, time-consuming and exhausting with a chance of leading to controversial results and inaccurate reproducibility [84]. Although the counting method has been recommended by the International Ki67 in Breast Cancer

Working Group, other studies have demonstrated the counting method is not superior to visual estimation [124,140,141]. Biological heterogeneity of Ki67 staining can occur across the specimen and it has large impact on the Ki67 scoring. One approach is to evaluate Ki67 IHC in "hot-spot" fields that contain the most proliferating tumor cells. The other way is to give a representative score by averaging fields across the section [82]. This issue is currently being investigated to assess which method is more robust [116]. Although, recommendations published in 2011 provide a suitable landmark to improve pre-analytical and analytical validity, related protocols still show high variety and poor reproducibility linked with the context of different sampling, fixation, antigen retrieval, staining and scoring methods [116,120,142].

Rapid development of digital microscopy by now allows fast digitalization of histological slides at high-resolution, which can firmly support education, research and diagnostics in pathology [143,144]. The emergence of digital image analysis (DIA) platforms improved the capacity, precision and reproducibility of in situ biomarker evaluation [145]. However, these features alone may not be enough for diagnostic accuracy, which must be based on histological pattern recognition as the most relevant requirement of precise sample selection and assessment of immunoreactions [146]. DIA platforms are able to assess Ki67 LI, however it has not been clarified yet, if their results can meet the requirements of the daily diagnostic practice and reduce variability of Ki67 scoring [147].

## 2. OBJECTIVES

In my PhD thesis, three aspects of clinical validity of Ki67 LI are investigated as follows: i) The comparison of different Ki67 antibodies used in daily practice. ii) The reproducibility between pathologists evaluating Ki67 LI and the potential of DIA in Ki67 scoring. iii) The role of Ki67 in neoadjuvant setting.

Therefore, in the breast cancer working group of 2<sup>nd</sup> Department of Pathology, Semmelweis University we aimed to:

1, Compare the semi-quantitatively defined Ki67 LI of five commercially available Ki67 IHC antibodies in a consecutive breast cancer patient population.

2, Correlate the prognosis prediction potential of each Ki67 antibodies with that of conventional clinicopathological factors in univariate and multivariate analyses.

3, Investigate the reproducibility of Ki67 LI among three pathologists, based on their conventional visual estimation.

4, Test the agreement of semi-quantitative and DIA Ki67 scoring.

5, Determine and compare the outcome prediction potential of each semi-quantitative and DIA assessments with that of conventional clinicopathological factors.

6, Find optimal cut-off values for Ki67 expression in neoadjuvant patient cohort that best correlates with response rates to neoadjuvant therapy and with distant metastasis-free survival as well as with overall survival.

7, Investigate the association between Ki67, subtype and pathological response.

8, Investigate the prognostic potential of Ki67 in neoadjuvant setting with multivariate analysis.

#### 3. METHODS

#### 3.1. Patients

Two distinct breast cancer patient cohorts were enrolled in the investigations encompassing 498 patients totally without any overlap: 1) 378 consecutive breast cancer cases from the Buda MÁV Hospital Pathology Unit, Budapest, Hungary diagnosed between 1999 and 2002 with 99.80 months median follow up (disease-free survival, DFS). All patients' breast cancers had been surgically removed. Pathological features were retrieved from the pathology reports or the original H&E stained slides were reviewed. Treatment data were retrieved from patients' medical records.

2) 120 patients diagnosed with invasive breast cancer and treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NAC) at Semmelweis University, Budapest, Hungary between 2002 and 2013 were retrospectively recruited. Patients were enrolled only if they had completed NAC, thereafter underwent surgery. The median follow up time for overall survival (OS) and distant metastases-free survival (DMFS) was 60.5 and 59 months, respectively. Degree of response to NAC was categorized according to Pinder et al. (2007) [18] in the histological sections of the post-treatment surgical specimens as follows: Pathologic complete response (pCR) was defined as no residual invasive tumor and the absence of any residual invasive tumor in the lymph nodes. Partial response to therapy (pPR), either <10% of tumor remaining (pPRi), or 10-50% tumor remaining (pPRii), or >50% of tumor remaining but some evidence of response to therapy is present (pPRiii). Non-responders (pNR) were defined as no evidence of response to therapy.

The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Semmelweis University (TUKEB, #7-1/2008 and TUKEB 120/2013). Regarding the definition of surrogate molecular subtypes of breast cancer, we referred to the St. Gallen recommendations from 2013 that include five categories (luminal A, luminal B/HER2-, luminal B/HER2+, HER2+ and triple negative [123].

#### 3.2. Tissue preparation

Tissue microarrays (TMA) were built from 10% neutrally buffered FFPE representative tissue blocks of the 378 consecutive cases. Tumor areas were selected by pathologists

based on hematoxylin & eosin stained slides. Duplicate cores (each 2 mm in diameter) were punched (TMA Master, 3DHISTECH Ltd., Budapest, Hungary) from each case, resulting 10 TMA blocks.

Regarding the neoadjuvant cohort involving 120 cases, the pre-treatment core biopsy specimens and in case of non pCR, the surgical specimens were investigated.

3.3. Immunohistochemistry

Paraffin sections of 3 µm thickness were cut from the TMA blocks for IHC. The following five antibodies (Table 2) were used for IHC detection of Ki67 on TMA blocks: SP6 (Histopathology), 30-9 (Ventana), N1574-poly (DAKO), B56 (Histopathology), MIB1 (Immunotech).

Clone	Manufacturer	Species	Clonality	Immunogenity	Epitope	Dilution
SP6	Histopathology	rabbit	mono	recognizes the same repeated Ki67 epitope as MIB1	c- terminus	1:50
30-9	Ventana	rabbit	mono	C-terminal portion of Ki-67	c- terminus	1:1 (Ready- To-Use)
poly (N1574)	DAKO	rabbit	poly	synthetic peptide from 62 base pair region of the human Ki-67	middle of Ki67 protein	1:1 (Ready- To-Use)
B56	Histopathology	mouse	mono	"immunodominant epitope of the Ki-67 protein"	repetitive 66 bp element	1:50
MIB1	Immunotech (acquisition by DAKO)	mouse	mono	1002 bp Ki-67 cDNA fragment	repetitive 66 bp element (FKEL and FKELF)	1:50

Table 2: Characteristics of the used Ki67 antibodies.

Furthermore, Ki67-MIB1 was investigated with immunofluorescent labeled (MIB1-IF) antibody (IR 626 DAKO) as well. The IHC reactions were performed in an automated immunostainer (Ventana Benchmark XT, Roche, Basel, Switzerland) according to the manufacturer's protocol (at 42 °C for 32 minutes) after antigen retrieval using the pH 9.0 CC1 buffer at 42 °C for 30 minutes. For antibody visualization, UltraView DAB Detection kit (Ventana, Tucson, USA) was applied. Immunofluorescent staining was performed manually.

To detect Ki67 in core biopsy and surgical specimens of the neoadjuvant breast cancer cohort MIB1 antibody was used with the same protocol.

Furthermore, ER, PgR and Her2 IHC were also performed using the following antibodies: 1:200 anti-ER (clone 6F11), 1:200 anti-PgR (clone 312) and 1:150 anti-HER2 (clone CB11) antibodies purchased from Novocastra Laboratories Ltd (Newcastle upon Tyne, UK) with the same protocol. The cut-off value for ER and PgR positivity was 1% positive tumor cells with nuclear staining. Hormone receptor (HR) negativity was defined as being negative for both ER and PgR. HER2 IHC positivity was defined as score 3+ complete, strong membrane staining in >10 % of tumor cells. For IHC 2+ samples, FISH was performed to confirm gene amplification by using Ventana Benchmark automatic staining system with INFORM® Her-2/neu FISH test until 2008 and Zytovision® ERBB2/CEN17 dual FISH probe after 2008. HER2 status was defined according to the ASCO/CAP guideline valid at the time of diagnosis (ASCO/CAP guideline 2007 and ASCO/CAP guideline 2013) [148,149].

## 3.4. Semi-quantitative evaluation of Ki67 reactions

Semi-quantitative (SQ) evaluation of Ki67 IHC of 378 consecutive cases was performed on digital slides using the TMA Module software on the PannoramicViewer (v1.11.49.0) platform (all 3DHISTECH, Budapest, Hungary) as follows: Ki67 LI was defined as the percentage of positive tumor cell nuclei, estimated on average in 3-10 high-power fields, in each core. Any nuclear positivity was considered, including nuclear, nucleolar or nuclear membrane localization irrespective of the pattern (granular or diffuse) in a range of 100–500 cells, depending on the cellularity of the TMA cores. Duplicate cores were evaluated separately and their mean Ki67 LI was finally analyzed. During the comparison of five Ki67 antibodies, the IHC reactions were evaluated by two pathologists independently and if any discrepancy occurred, the inconsistent cases were reassessed and a consensus Ki67 LI score was given.

When the reproducibility was investigated between observers, the IHC reactions of MIB1 antibody were evaluated by three pathologists (SQ-1, SQ-2, SQ-3) independently. The three pathologists have considerable but different level of experience in Ki67 scoring of breast cancer. SQ1 is the youngest with a pathology specialist status for a year only. SQ-2 and SQ-3 are consultant pathologists with substantial experience in diagnostic practice and special focus on breast pathology. Dichotomization of Ki67 LI values either at 14% or 20% and 30% thresholds was also performed [123,63].

Regarding the neoadjuvant cohort, the Ki67 IHC reactions were evaluated by two pathologists independently and if any discrepancy occurred, the inconsistent cases were reassessed and a consensus Ki67 LI score was given.

#### 3.5. Digital image analysis of Ki67 reactions

TMA slides were digitized with Pannoramic Flash II slide scanner using x20 objective (NA=0.83), collecting sharp signals from 7 focal planes in "Extended-focus" mode through the 3 µm section thickness at 80 jpeg image quality factor. DIA was performed on the IHC reactions of MIB1 antibody using the PatternQuant (PQ) software of the QuantCenter package module enabling automated tissue pattern recognition by separating epithelial elements from stroma. All digital hardware and software tools were from 3DHISTECH Ltd. (Budapest, Hungary). Designation of training tissue patterns to be recognized and the calibration were done in co-operation by a pathologist and an IT expert to achieve the best recognition pattern (achieved at a PQ training magnification of 1.5x; a gamma level of 1; dilution of 3; a contour of 0). So, as the detection and quantification of tumor cell nuclei using NuclearQuant (NQ) at the following settings: Blur: 15; Radius minimum: 1.5; Radius maximum: 8; Area min: 15; Intensity minimum: 30; Contrast minimum 30 (Figure 2). The brown DAB and the hematoxylin counterstain were separated with digital color deconvolution [150]. Based on these settings of PQ and NQ, automated Ki67 evaluation was performed on each core (DIA-1 analysis). In the other DIA test, automated annotations were assessed by pathologists on each core, and when it was necessary, DIA settings were adjusted independently (from the Ki67 LI



results of DIA-1, SQ-1, SQ-2, SQ-3) to exclude artifacts, underestimation or overestimation of positive/negative cells and false detections (DIA-2 analysis).

Figure 2: Workflow of 3DHistech DIA assessment. Examples of desired tissue patterns were given, demarcated with the red and green lines (red = epithel pattern, green = stroma pattern) [A,B], that we wanted to be recognized and distinguished by the software named PatternQuant [C]. Then the software named NuclearQuant counts the recognized negative (blue) and positive (red) cells only in the annotations designated by PatternQuant (red areas on picture C) [D,E].

#### 3.6. Statistical analysis

For statistical analysis SPSS 22 software (IBM, Armonk, USA) and MedCalc 13.3.3.0 (MedCalc Software, Ostend, Belgium) software were used. Degree of agreement among different antibodies detecting Ki67 was evaluated by using intra-class correlation coefficient (ICC), concordance correlation coefficient (CCC), Cohen's kappa and Bland-Altman plot. To assess statistical differences between each antibody, Wilcoxon signed-rank and McNemar tests were applied, since our data were not normally-distributed, even after log-transformation (Shapiro-Wilk and Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests).

The reproducibility between pathologists was estimated with ICC and CCC. Altman's guideline was followed for the interpretation of ICC [151]. CCC was interpreted according to McBride [152]. Degree of agreement among different observers (SQ-1, SQ-2, SQ-3, DIA-1, and DIA-2) was evaluated by using Cohen's kappa and Bland-Altman Plot. To assess statistical differences between observers the Wilcoxon signed-rank and McNemar tests were applied, since our data were not normally-distributed, even after log-transformation (Shapiro-Wilk and Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests).

Differences in the distribution of characteristics between the parameters of patients with pCR or pPR and patients with pNR were evaluated using two-sided Fisher's Exact Test. Two-sided Mann-Whitney-Wilcoxon test was used to define age distributions in pCR vs. pNR and vs. pPR. The optimal cut-off value for Ki67 percentage to discriminate response to treatment was assessed by receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis. To identify the optimal Ki67 threshold for NAC, only pCR and pNR cases were involved in ROC analyses, because pPR status is considered as a soft endpoint. Kaplan-Meier analysis supported with log-rank test was executed to assess prognostic potential. To compare prognosis prediction potential, multivariate Cox-regression analysis was applied. OS was defined as the elapsed time from the date of diagnosis of the tumor by core biopsy to the date of death, or when patients were last censored if still alive. DMFS was defined as time from the date of primary diagnosis to the occurrence of first distant metastases. DFS was defined as time from the date of primary diagnosis to the occurrence was set at p < 0.05.

#### 4. **RESULTS**

Clinicopathological characteristics of the 378 breast carcinomas are shown in Table 3. Mean patient age was 59 years (range: 27-94 years). Most of the cases were pT1 and pT2, the majority with low mitotic index and histological grade of 1 or 2 and of luminal A - like subtype. Most patients had an axillary stage of pN0-1 (55.8%). In 92 cases (24.3%) axillary surgery was not performed due to clinical or patient related reason (see Table 3). More than half of the patients (57.7%) underwent postoperative breast irradiation, and slightly fewer patients (42.1%) received adjuvant chemotherapy in this cohort. All patients with ER positive breast cancer received endocrine treatment. Aggregate clinicopathological features of the 120 cases in the neoadjuvant cohort are displayed in Table 4. Mean patient age was 50.6 years (range: 29-74 years). Most patients (59.6 %) had node-positive disease and cT2 tumors (60.8 %). Tumors were ERpositive in 66.7 % of cases and presented PgR positivity >20.0 % in 41.2 % of the analyzed samples. In 34.2 % of cases HER2 positivity was detected. Of the 120 tumors, 12.5 % were of luminal A, 31.7 % of luminal B/HER2 negative, 22.5 % of luminal B/HER2 positive, 11.7 % of HER2+ and 21.7 % of TNBC subtype. Twenty three out of 120 patients (19.2 %) achieved pathologic complete remission (pCR), 73 (60.8 %) showed partial remission (pPR), whereas no response to NAC (pNR) was detected in 24 cases (20.0 %). In the group of patients who obtained pPR, residual tumor was detected in lymph nodes only in 7 patients (9.6 %), major response (>90 % tumor regression) to NAC was observed in 8 cases (11.0 %), a response rate between 50-90% was detected in 26 cases (35.6 %), whereas a response rate <50% was observed in 32 cases (43.8 %).

Patients		(n, %)	378	100%			
Age	(mean $\pm$ S	SD, range)	$58.90 \pm 12.98$	27-94			
Tumor size (mm)	$(\text{mean} \pm \text{SD})$		$23.58 \pm 15.56$				
Mitotic index	(mean ± S	SD)	$9.07 \pm 10.89$				
(n/10HPF)							
Grade	1	(n, %)	146	38.6%			
	2	(n, %)	143	37.9%			
	3	(n, %)	89	23.5%			
Subtype	LUMA	(n, %)	184	48.7%			
	LUMB	(n, %)	124	32.8%			
	HER2	(n, %)	20	5.2%			
	TNBC	(n, %)	49	13.0%			
	no data	(n, %)	1	0.3%			
Lymph node status	0	(n, %)	133	35.2%			
(TNM 7)	1	(n, %)	85	22.5%			
	2	(n, %)	39	10.3%			
	3	(n, %)	29	7.7%			
	no data#	(n, %)	92	24.3%			
Vascular Invasion	none	(n, %)	117	31.0%			
	present	(n, %)	251	66.4%			
	no data	(n, %)	10	2.6%			
Necrosis	none	(n, %)	277	73.3%			
	present	(n, %)	95	25.1%			
	no data	(n, %)	6	1.6%			
Chemotherapy	no	(n, %)	213	56.3%			
	yes	(n, %)	159	42.1%			
	no data	(n, %)	6	1.6%			
<b>Radiation therapy</b>	no	(n, %)	154	40.7%			
	yes	(n, %)	218	57.7%			
	no data	(n, %)	6	1.6%			
Follow-up time	(n, median IQT*)	n,	334, 99.80	57.93			
*interquartile range. #29 cases were small, screen detected lesions before							
the nationwide scree	ning was	introduced.	No sentinel lymp	oh node			

Table 3: Clinicopathological data of the 378 breast carcinomas.

\*interquartile range. #29 cases were small, screen detected lesions before the nationwide screening was introduced. No sentinel lymph node technique was available at that time. Six patients developed second primary carcinoma in the same breast previously undergoing breast conserving surgery with axillary block dissection. In 2 cases, no lymph nodes were found in the removed axillary fat tissue. In 35 cases, due to comorbidities or advanced age of patients axillary staging was omitted. In the remaining 20 cases, recurrent breast carcinoma was diagnosed (in these cases the primary tumors were not available).

# DOI:10.14753/SE.2018.2164

<b>P</b> (		Number	TE ( 10/		
Factors	Subgroups	of cases	Total %	vanu 70	
A	$40 \ge$	29	24.2	24.2	
Age	40 <	91	75.8	75.8	
	T1	19	15.8	15.8	
T	<i>T2</i>	73	60.8	60.8	
CI	ТЗ	15	12.5	12.5	
	T4	13	10.8	10.8	
	рТО	20	16.7	18.7	
	pT1	40	33.3	37.4	
<b>T</b>	pT2	34	28.3	31.8	
pı	рТ3	9	7.5	8.4	
	pT4	4	3.3	3.7	
	Unknown	13	10.8		
	NO	46	38.3	40.4	
	NI	55	45.8	48.3	
cN	N2	9	7.5	7.9	
	N3	4	3.3	3.5	
	Nx	6	5.0		
	pN0	51	42.5	48.1	
	pN1	36	30	33.9	
рN	pN2	13	10.8	12.3	
	pN3	6	5	5.7	
	Nx	14	11.7		
	1	1	0.8	0.9	
Grada	2	46	38.3	41.8	
Graue	3	63	52.5	57.3	
	Unknown	10	8.3		
FD status	Positive	80	66.7	66.7	
LK status	Negative	40	33.3	33.3	
	20% >	8	6.7	6.7	
PaR status	$20\% \leq$	49	40.8	41.2	
i gri status	Negative	62	51.7	52.1	
	Unknown	1	0.8		
HFR? status	Positive	41	34.2	34.2	
IIEKZ Status	Negative	79	65.8	65.8	
Histological	Lobular	6	5.0	5.1	
tvne	IBC NOS	112	93.3	94.9	
~J PC	Other/Unknown	2	1.7		
Molecular	Luminal A	15	12.5	12.5	
subtype	Luminal B/HER2-	38	31.7	31.7	
(surrogate	Luminal B/HER2+	27	22.5	22.5	
definitions)	HER2+	14	11.7	11.7	
uummuun <i>s)</i>	Triple-negative	26	21.7	21.7	

# Table 4: Clinicopathological data of the 120 breast carcinomas.

## DOI:10.14753/SE.2018.2164

	Complete	23	19.2	19.2
Response	Partial	73	60.8	60.8
	Non-responder	24	20.0	20.0
Anthroavalinas	Yes	88	73.3	73.3
Antifracyclines	No	32	26.7	26.7
Toyonog	Yes	99	82.5	82.5
Taxalles	No	21	17.5	17.5
Distinum	Yes	31	25.83	25.83
Platinum	No	89	74.16	74.16
Tracturumah	Yes	12	10.0	10.0
	No	108	90.0	90.0

# 4.1. The validity of five Ki67 antibodies

## 4.1.1. Comparison of Ki67 LI score of the different antibodies

We investigated the Ki67 LI score of the 5 antibodies, and the following median values were observed: SP6 antibody: 8.00%, 30-9 antibody: 8.00%, poly antibody: 5.75%, MIB1 antibody: 3.50%, B56 antibody: 3.50%, MIB1-IF antibody: 3.50% (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Boxplot of Ki67 LI of the five antibodies.

Significant difference occurred between all Ki67 LI assessments of the 5 antibodies (p values for all comparisons  $\leq 0.005$ ). Dichotomizing Ki67 LI scores at 20% threshold, we found no significant difference between MIB1, poly and MIB1-IF (MIB1 vs. poly p=0.052; MIB1vs. MIB1-IF p=0.230; poly vs. MIB1-IF p=0.405) (Table 5). At 30% cut-off score, no significant difference occurred between MIB1, poly and MIB1-IF (MIB1 vs. poly p=0.115; MIB1vs. MIB1-IF p=0.988; poly vs. MIB1-IF p=0.230), similarly to the results at 20% threshold. Furthermore, 30-9 and poly did not differ significantly at 30% cut-off score (p=0.096) (Table 5).

Wilcovon							
signed-rank	SP6	30-9	nolv	MIR1	<b>B56</b>	MIB1-	
test p	510	50 7	pory	MIDI	<b>D</b> 50	IF	
SP6	-	≤ 0.001	≤ 0.001	≤ 0.001	≤ 0.001	≤ 0.001	
30-9	≤ 0.001	-	≤ 0.001	≤ 0.001	≤ 0.001	≤ 0.001	
poly	≤ 0.001	≤ 0.001	-	≤ 0.001	≤ 0.001	0.005	
MIB1	≤ 0.001	≤ 0.001	$\leq 0.001$	-	0.002	0.002	
B56	≤ 0.001	≤ 0.001	≤ 0.001	0.002	-	≤ 0.001	
MIB1-IF	≤ 0.001	≤ 0.001	0.005	0.002	≤ 0.001	-	
McNemar test p	SP6 D20%	30-9 D20%	poly D20%	MIB1 D20%	B56 D20%	MIB1- IF D20%	
SP6 D20%	-	$\leq 0.001$					
30-9 D20%	$\leq 0.001$	-	0.006	≤ 0.001	≤ 0.001	0.002	
poly D20%	≤ 0.001	0.006	-	0.052	≤ 0.001	0.405	
MIB1 D20%	$\leq 0.001$	≤ 0.001	0.052	-	≤ 0.001	0.230	
B56 D20%	$\leq 0.001$	$\leq$ 0.001	$\leq 0.001$	$\leq 0.001$	-	$\leq 0.001$	
MIB1-IF D20%	≤ 0.001	0.002	0.405	0.230	$\leq 0.001$	-	
McNemar test p	SP6 D30%	30-9 D30%	poly D30%	MIB1 D30%	B56 D30%	MIB1- IF D30%	
SP6 D30%	-	0.001	$\leq 0.001$	$\leq 0.001$	$\leq 0.001$	$\leq 0.001$	
30-9 D30%	≤ 0.001	-	0.096	0.001	≤ 0.001	0.001	
poly D30%	$\leq 0.001$	0.096	-	0.115	$\leq 0.001$	0.230	
MIB1 D30%	≤ 0.001	0.001	0.115	-	≤ 0.001	0.988	
B56 D30%	$\leq 0.001$	$\leq 0.001$	$\leq 0.001$	$\leq 0.001$	-	0.003	
MIB1-IF D30%	$\leq 0.001$	0.001	0.230	0.988	0.003	-	
D20% = dichotomized at 20% threshold D30% = dichotomized at 30% threshold							

Table 5: Statistical comparisons of the five Ki67 antibodies.

## DOI:10.14753/SE.2018.2164

## 4.1.2. Concordance of Ki67 LI score of the different antibodies

The Ki67 LI scores of the 5 antibodies showed a moderate agreement (ICC: 0.645, CI: 0.572-0.708, p<0.001). Highest concordance was observed between MIB1 and poly, 30-9 and poly, MIB1 and B56, 30-9 and SP6 as well as between MIB1 and 30-9 (CCC: 0.785, 0.780, 0.774, 0.762 and 0.745, respectively). Conversely, lowest agreement was found between SP6 and B56 as well as between SP6 and MIB1-IF (CCC: 0.448, 0.444, respectively) (Table 6).

Intraclass correlation	SP6	30-9	poly	MIB1	B56	MIB1-IF	
coefficient (CI)							
Between the			0.645 (0	.572-0.708)			
five antibodies	CD (	20.0	••••••		<b>DF</b> (		
Concordance	SP6	30-9	poly	MIB1	B56	MIB1-IF	
coefficient							
SP6	-	0.762	0.640	0.604	0.448	0.444	
30-9	0.762	-	0.780	0.745	0.603	0.560	
poly	0.640	0.780	-	0.785	0.698	0.599	
MIB1	0.604	0.745	0.785	-	0.774	0.668	
B56	0.448	0.603	0.698	0.774	-	0.695	
MIB1-IF	0.444	0.560	0.599	0.668	0.695	-	
Cohen's kappa	SP6 D20%	30-9 D20%	poly D20%	MIB1 D20%	B56 D20%	MIB1-IF D20%	
SP6 D20%	-	0.620	0.491	0.398	0.266	0.325	
30-9 D20%	0.620	-	0.630	0.597	0.379	0.459	
poly D20%	0.491	0.630	-	0.618	0.594	0.425	
MIB1 D20%	0.398	0.597	0.618	-	0.603	0.573	
B56 D20%	0.266	0.379	0.594	0.603	-	0.402	
MIB1-IF D20%	0.325	0.459	0.425	0.573	0.402	-	
Cohen's kappa	SP6 D30%	30-9 D30%	poly D30%	MIB1 D30%	B56 D30%	MIB1-IF D30%	
SP6 D30%	-	0.608	0.544	0.400	0.187	0.353	
30-9 D30%	0.608	-	0.650	0.454	0.321	0.460	
poly D30%	0.544	0.650	-	0.626	0.535	0.428	
MIB1 D30%	0.400	0.454	0.626	-	0.568	0.558	
B56 D30%	0.187	0.321	0.535	0.568	-	0.501	
MIB1-IF D30%	0.353	0.460	0.428	0.558	0.501	-	
D20% = dichotomized at 20% threshold							
D30% = dichotomized at 30% threshold							

Table 6: Concordance and agreement between the five Ki67 antibodies.

We also investigated the agreement of the 5 antibodies by Bland-Altman plot. Significant bias was observed in all comparisons except MIB1 vs. MIB1-IF (bias: -0.33 CI: 0.62-1.27 p=0.496) and the range of agreement was also wide (upper limit of agreement: +14.4-44.9; lower limit of agreement: -14.9-40.7). Furthermore, the variability of differences represented a systematic error between all the antibodies except between MIB1 and poly (p=0.093) (Figure 4). Although in the comparison of MIB1 and poly, the variability of differences showed an increasing trend, proportional to the magnitude of Ki67 LI.






Figure 4: Bland-Altman plots comparing Ki67 LI scores of the antibodies. Red dashed line corresponds the expected mean zero difference between Ki67 LI scores of the antibodies. Black line represents the observed mean difference between Ki67 LI scores of the antibodies, namely the observed bias (black dashed lines are the CI of the observed mean difference). Blue dashed lines illustrate the range of agreement (lower and upper limit of agreement) based on 95% of differences (blue lines are the CI of the limits of agreement). Green dashed line is the fitted regression line to detect potential proportional difference (green lines are the CI of the regression line). Not all plots shown.

The agreement between dichotomized Ki67 LI scores vary between poor to good ( $\kappa$ =0.187-0.650) (Table 6). Highest agreement was found between poly and 30-9, MIB1 and poly, SP6 and 30-9 as well as between MIB1 and B56 ( $\kappa$ =0.650, 0.626, 0.620 and 0.603, respectively). Conversely, low agreement occurred between SP6 and B56, 30-9 and B56 as well as between SP6 and MIB1-IF ( $\kappa$ =0.187, 0.321, 0.325, respectively).

4.1.3. Capacity of the different Ki67 antibodies to predict disease-free survival

For prognosis, all the Ki67 antibodies (MIB1 p= 0.003, SP6 p= 0.014, 30-9 p= 0.004, poly p< 0.001, B56 p= 0.003) but the IF detection of MIB1 (p= 0.993) could perform statistically significant splitting of our cohort into 2 patients' groups with distinct DFS at 20% threshold (Figure 5). At 30% cut-off point, Ki67 LI of MIB1 (p= 0.005), SP6 (p= 0.023), 30-9 (p= 0.001) and poly (p< 0.001) could distinguish





*Figure 5: Various Ki67 antibodies and their potential to predict disease-free survival at cut-off points 20% (D20%) and 30% (D30%), respectively. \*Significant.* 

good and unfavorable prognosis patients' cohorts. Meanwhile B56 (p= 0.288) and MIB1-IF (p= 0.342) did not represent any statistically significant prognosis predictor potential at 30% threshold (Figure 5). We had also investigated the utility of each Ki67 antibodies as potential independent predictors of DFS adjusted by age, IHC subtypes, lymph node and T status, histological grade, mitotic index, vascular invasion as well as necrosis at 20% and 30% thresholds. At 20% cut-off score, Ki67 LI of poly (p= 0.031) and lymph node status (p< 0.001) were significantly linked to DFS (Table 7). However, at 30% threshold, only lymph node status (p< 0.001) represented an independent association with survival (Table 7).

Prognostic Factors	Multivariate Cox regression analysis involving Ki67 LI scores of the five antibodies and the clinicopathological factors				
	HR	95% CI	p-value		
Age	0.884	0.716-1.090	0.249		
Tumor size	0.976	0.652-1.460	0.905		
IHC Subtype	1.111	0.876-1.409	0.384		
Histological grade	0.867	0.564-1.335	0.518		
Lymph node status (TNM 7)	1.552	1.211-1.988	< 0.001		
Mitotic index	1.152	0.769-1.725	0.493		
Vascular invasion	0.774	0.427-1.404	0.399		
Necrosis	1.481	0.814-2.694	0.199		
SP6 D20%	1.109	0.589-2.087	0.749		
30-9 D20%	1.341	0.697-2.577	0.379		
poly D20%	2.100	1.068-4.129	0.031		
MIB1 D20%	1.800	0.836-3.878	0.133		
B56 D20%	2.284	0.856-6.093	0.099		
MIB1-IF D20%	1.104	0.523-2.331	0.796		
SP6 D30%	1.278	0.683-2.391	0.443		
30-9 D30%	1.421	0.691-2.921	0.339		
poly D30%	2.027	0.947-4.335	0.069		
MIB1 D30%	1.870	0.816-4.282	0.139		
B56 D30%	1.715	0.517-5.697	0.378		
MIB1-IF D30%	1.332	0.558-3.178	0.519		
D	20% = dichotom	ized at 20% threshold			
D30% = dichotomized at 30% threshold					

Table 7: Multivariate Cox regression analysis of the Ki67 antibodies and the clinicopathological factors.

The effect of different treatment protocols on clinical outcome was also explored and significant difference occurred between patients' groups who received different treatment (p<0.001, Figure 6). Patients who underwent surgical intervention only had the longest DFS, while patients who received surgery+irradiation+chemotherapy combination had the most unfavorable prognosis (Figure 6).



Survival curves of the treatment subgroups

Figure 6: Survival functions of the treatment subgroups.

None of the Ki67 antibodies represented a significant association with DFS adjusted by clinicopathological factors in the patient subgroup treated with surgery+irradiation, and in the patient subgroup treated with surgery+irradiation+chemotherapy combination (p>0.250 for all Ki67 antibodies in all comparisons). Multivariate analyses were not performed in patient subgroup with surgery only and in patient subgroup treated with surgery+chemotherapy due to the low number of cases and/or low event rate compared to the relatively numerous clinicopathological factors. In the patient subgroup with surgery only, Ki67 LI scores of all the antibodies — except SP6 at 20% threshold and MIB1-IF at all cut-off scores — could perform statistically significant splitting of our cohort into 2 patient groups with distinct DFS (Table 8). However, in the patient subgroup treated with surgery+chemotherapy, none of the Ki67 antibodies could distinguish good and unfavorable prognosis patients' cohorts.

Table 8: Cox regression analysis of the Ki67 antibodies and the clinicopathological factors in the different treatment groups. Only significant factors shown. \* Multivariate analyses were not performed due to the low event rate compared to relatively numerous clinicopathological factors.

Treatment groups	Prognostic factor	HR	95% CI	p-value
	IHC Subtype	2.007	1.295-3.111	0.002
	30-9_D20%	4.091	1.295-12.925	0.016
	poly_D20%	4.129	1.268-13.446	0.019
	MIB1_D20%	6.580	2.046-21.168	0.002
Surgical treatment only (n=120)*	B56_D20%	6.788	2.189-22.004	0.001
	SP6_D30%	3.139	1.051-9.381	0.041
	30-9_D30%	5.959	1.777-19.982	0.004
	poly_D30%	5.944	1.820-19.415	0.003
	MIB1_D30%	6.369	2.067-22.789	0.009
	B56_D30%	6.411	2.340-22.495	0.007
	Age	0.174	0.041-0.745	0.018
	Tumor size	4.420	1.183-16.510	0.027
Surgery+irradiation	IHC Subtype	1.720	1.021-2.899	0.042
( <b>n=93</b> )	Lymph node			
	status (TNM 7)	5.087	1.492-17.339	0.009
D20	0% = dichotomized	l at 20%	threshold	
D30	0% = dichotomized	l at 30%	threshold	

4.2. The reproducibility between different Ki67 evaluations

Since MIB1 is the most widely used antibody to detect Ki67 and showed the highest concordance and agreement with the poly antibody, it was used in the further investigations.

The total number of cases involved in the study investigating reproducibility between Ki67 scorings decreased to 347 out of 378 consecutive breast cancer cases, because in the previous study only those cases were included that showed evaluable reaction by at least two Ki67 antibodies out of the five. Furthermore, the pathologists evaluating Ki67 LI were not the same in the investigations detailed in 4.1 and in 4.2 chapters.

4.2.1. Comparison of semi-quantitative (SQ) evaluations

We examined the 3 SQ Ki67 LI evaluations (SQ-1, SQ-2, SQ-3), and the following median values were observed: 5 (SQ-1), 8 (SQ-2), 10 (SQ-3) (Figure 7).



Figure 7: Boxplot of Ki67 LI evaluations.

Significant difference was found between all the 3 SQ Ki67 LI assessments expressed in percentage (p values for all comparisons  $\leq 0.001$ , table 9). However, they showed a very good consistency (ICC= 0.853) concerning the relative difference between cases (Table 10). The best interobserver variability was found between SQ-2 and SQ-3 (CCC= 0.935), while SQ-1 showed poor concordance with SQ-2 and SQ-3 (CCC= 0.817, CCC= 0.827, respectively, table 10).

Wilcoxon	SQ-1	SQ-2	SQ-3	SQ-RV	DIA-1	DIA-2
signed-rank						
test p						
SQ-1	-	$\leq 0.001$				
SQ-2	$\leq$ 0.001	-	$\leq 0.001$	0.065	$\leq 0.001$	0.112
SQ-3	≤ 0.001	$\leq 0.001$	-	0.058	$\leq 0.001$	$\leq$ 0.001
SQ-RV	$\leq$ 0.001	0.065	0.058	-	$\leq 0.001$	0.754
DIA-1	≤ 0.001	$\leq 0.001$	$\leq 0.001$	$\leq 0.001$	-	$\leq 0.001$
DIA-2	$\leq$ 0.001	0.112	$\leq 0.001$	0.754	$\leq 0.001$	-
McNemar test	SQ-1	SQ-2	SQ-3	SQ-RV	DIA-1	DIA-2
р	D14%	D14%	D14%	D14%	D14%	D14%
SQ-1 D14%	-	$\leq 0.001$	$\leq 0.001$	$\leq$ 0.001	$\leq 0.001$	$\leq$ 0.001
SQ-2 D14%	≤ 0.001	-	0.708	0.635	0.001	0.289
SQ-3 D14%	≤ 0.001	0.708	-	0.152	$\leq 0.001$	0.004
SQ-RV D14%	$\leq$ 0.001	0.635	0.152	-	0.010	0.337
DIA-1 D14%	$\leq$ 0.001	0.001	≤ 0.001	0.010	-	0.019
DIA-2 D14%	≤ 0.001	0.289	0.004	0.337	0.019	-
McNemar test	SQ-1	SQ-2	SQ-3	SQ-RV	DIA-1	DIA-2
р	D20%	D20%	D20%	D20%	D20%	D20%
SQ-1 D20%	-	$\leq 0.001$	$\leq 0.001$	$\leq 0.001$	$\leq 0.001$	$\leq$ 0.001
SQ-2 D20%	≤ 0.001	-	0.082	0.044	$\leq 0.001$	0.770
SQ-3 D20%	$\leq$ 0.001	0.082	-	0.503	0.864	≤ 0.001
SQ-RV D20%	$\leq$ 0.001	0.044	0.503	-	$\leq 0.001$	0.701
DIA-1 D20%	$\leq$ 0.001	$\leq 0.001$	0.864	$\leq 0.001$	-	$\leq$ 0.001
DIA-2 D20%	≤ 0.001	0.770	$\leq 0.001$	0.701	≤ 0.001	-
	D14	% = dichoto	mized at 14	4% threshold		
D20% = dichotomized at 20% threshold						

Table 9: Statistical comparisons of Ki67 LI assessments.

Comparison of Ki67 LI assessments	Intra-class correlation coefficient (95% CI)	Concordance correlation coefficient (95% CI)	Cohen' s Kappa		
SQ-1 vs. SQ-2 vs. SQ-3	0.853	-	-		
SO-1 vs SO-2	(0.771-0.900)	0 817 (0 777-0 850)			
SQ 1 VS. SQ 2 SQ-1 VS. SQ 2		0.817 (0.792-0.856)			
<u>SQ-1 V3. SQ-3</u>		0.027 (0.7)2 - 0.050)	_		
$SQ-2 \ VS. \ SQ-3$	-	0.933 (0.907-0.933)	-		
SQ-1_D14% Vs. SQ-2_D14%	-	-	0.462		
SQ-1_D14% vs. SQ-3_D14%	-	-	0.452		
SQ-2_D14% vs. SQ-3_D14%	-	-	0.741		
SQ-1_D20% vs. SQ-2_D20%	-	-	0.490		
SQ-1_D20% vs. SQ-3_D20%	-	-	0.473		
SQ-2_D20% vs. SQ-3_D20%	-	-	0.727		
DIA-1 vs. SQ-RV	-	0.906 (0.887-0.922)	-		
DIA-2 vs. SQ-RV	-	0.963 (0.954-0.969)	-		
DIA-1 vs. DIA-2	-	0.943 (0.932-0.952)	-		
DIA-1_D14% vs. SQ-RV_D14%	-	-	0.743		
DIA-2_D14% vs. SQ-RV_D14%	-	-	0.849		
DIA-1_D20% vs. SQ-RV_D20%	-	-	0.775		
DIA-2_D20% vs. SQ-RV_D20%	-	-	0.868		
DIA-1_D14% vs. DIA-2_D14%	-	-	0.894		
DIA-1_D20% vs. DIA-2_D20%	-	-	0.852		
SQ-1 vs. SQ-2 vs. SQ-3 vs. DIA-1	0.886	-	-		
vs. DIA-2	(0.851-0.913)				
D14% = dich	otomized at 14%	b threshold			
D20% = dichotomized at 20% threshold					

Table 10: Interobserver variability between Ki67 LI assessments.

We also investigated the agreement of the three SQ evaluations using Bland-Altman plots (Figure 8). Significant bias was observed in all comparisons. The lowest bias and the narrowest range of agreement were found between SQ-2 and SQ-3 without a proportional error, however, the variability of differences still showed an increasing trend, proportional to the magnitude of Ki67 LI. Bland-Altman plots were also created for cases of <30% Ki67 LI values since these were overrepresented in our cohort, with still covering all clinically relevant thresholds. The same trends were observed between SQ evaluations with lower bias and narrower range of agreement.





Mean of SQ-RV and DIA-2





Figure 8: Bland-Altman plots comparing KIPI evaluations and Bland-Altman plots comparing KIPI evaluations involving cases only below 30% cut-off point. Red dashed line corresponds the expected mean zero difference between Ki67 LI scores of the antibodies. Black line represents the observed mean difference between Ki67 LI scores of the antibodies, namely the observed bias (black dashed lines are the CI of the observed mean difference). Blue dashed lines illustrate the range of agreement (lower and upper limit of agreement) based on 95% of differences (blue lines are the CI of the limits of agreement). Green dashed line is the fitted regression line to detect potential proportional error (green lines are the CI of the regression line). Not all plots shown.

Upon dichotomizing Ki67 LI values at 14% and 20% thresholds, SQ-1 still differed considerably from SQ-2 ( $p \le 0.001$ ,  $p \le 0.001$ , respectively) and SQ-3 ( $p \le 0.001$ ,  $p \le 0.001$ , respectively, table 9) with a moderate agreement (SQ-2  $\kappa/14\%/= 0.462$ , SQ-2  $\kappa/20\%/= 0.490$ , SQ-3  $\kappa/14\%/= 0.452$ , SQ-3  $\kappa/20\%/= 0.473$ , table 10). However, no significant difference (p = 0.708, p = 0.082, respectively, table 9), and substantial agreement ( $\kappa/14\%/= 0.741$ ,  $\kappa/20\%/= 0.727$ , table 10) were found between SQ-2 and SQ-3, at these thresholds.

#### 4.2.2. Comparison of digital image analyses (DIA) evaluations

The median values for DIA evaluations were the following: 8.86 (DIA-1) 8.88 (DIA-2) (Figure 7). For the comparison with DIA assessments, a reference SQ Ki67 LI value was generated (SQ-RV) as the mean of SQ-2 and SQ-3, since SQ-1 differed considerably from those. SQ-RV and automated DIA-1 differed ( $p \le 0.001$ , table 9) and showed moderate concordance (CCC= 0.906, table 10). SQ-RV and adjustable DIA-2 showed no significant difference (p = 0.754, table 9), and represented a substantial concordance (CCC= 0.963, table 10). Significant difference ( $p \le 0.001$ ) but substantial concordance (CCC: 0.943) was found when DIA-1 was compared to DIA-2. Using Bland-Altman plots showed a significant bias and proportional error between SQ-RV and DIA-1 values, which was not seen between SQ-RV and DIA-2 values and the range of agreement was also superior in the latter case (Figure 8). Moreover, in the comparison of SQ-RV and DIA-2, the variability of differences did not show an increasing trend, proportional to the magnitude of Ki67 LI. The same results were found at 30% threshold between SQ-RV and DIA evaluations, but the range of agreement became narrower in all comparisons (Figure 8).

At 14% and 20% thresholds, though DIA-1 differed from SQ-RV significantly (p= 0.010, p $\leq$  0.001, respectively), DIA-2 and SQ-RV values did not (p= 0.337, p= 0.701, respectively, table 9). Both DIA methods showed substantial (DIA-1  $\kappa$ /14%/= 0.743,  $\kappa$ /20%/= 0.775) or outstanding agreement (DIA-2  $\kappa$ /14%/= 0.849,  $\kappa$ /20%/= 0.868) with SQ-RV (Table 10). Though significant difference occurred between DIA-1 and DIA-2 (p/14%/= 0.019, p/20%/ $\leq$  0.001), agreements were high ( $\kappa$ /14%/= 0.894,  $\kappa$ /20%/ = 0.852). Interobserver variability within DIA (DIA-1, DIA-2) and SQ (SQ-1, SQ-2, and SQ-3) evaluations referred to a very good consistency (ICC= 0.886).

# 4.2.3. Comparison of semi-quantitative (SQ) and digital image analyses (DIA) evaluations in prognosis prediction

For prognosis, all Ki67 evaluations (DIA-1 p= 0.031, DIA-2 p= 0.018, SQ-1 p= 0.022, SQ-2 p= 0.008) but SQ-3 (p= 0.062) could perform statistically significant splitting of our cohort into 2 patients' group with distinct DFS at 14% threshold (Figure 9). At 20% cut-off point, Ki67 evaluations of DIA-2 (p= 0.004), SQ-2 (p $\leq$ 0.001) and





Figure 9: Various KIPI evaluations and disease free survival. \*Significant. D14% = dichotomized at 14% threshold. D20% = dichotomized at 20% threshold.

SQ-3 (p=0.013) could sort patients into good and unfavorable prognostic groups, while SQ-1 (p=0.085) and DIA-1 (p=0.055) did not (Figure 9).

Ki67 LI assessments were also tested as potential independent predictors of DFS adjusted by age, IHC subtypes, lymph node and T status, histological grade, mitotic index, vascular invasion as well as necrosis. At 14% cut-off, no Ki67 LI evaluation but only lymph node status (p= 0.001) showed independent association with DFS. However, at 20% threshold, both lymph node status and SQ-2 were significantly linked to DFS (p= 0.012, table 11).

Table 11: Multivariate Cox regression analysis of Ki67 LI assessments and pathological factors.

	Multivariate Cox regression analysis involving Ki67 LI				
<b>Prognostic Factors</b>	assessment	s and clinicopathologi	ical factors		
	HR	95% CI	p-value		
Age	0.915	0.596-1.406	0.685		
Tumor size	1.245	0.796-1.945	0.337		
IHC Subtype	1.078	0.910-1.277	0.385		
Histological grade	1.064	0.699-1.620	0.771		
Lymph node status (TNM 7)	1.435	1.133-1.817	0.001		
Mitotic index	1.154	0.782-1.701	0.471		
Vascular invasion	1.016	0.534-1.934	0.961		
Necrosis	1.237	0.688-2.227	0.477		
SQ-1 D14%	1.481	0.773-2.838	0.237		
SQ-2 D14%	1.296	0.713-2.355	0.395		
SQ-3 D14%	1.494	0.785-2.579	0.429		
DIA-1 D14%	1.265	0.709-2.257	0.426		
DIA-2 D14%	1.489	0.839-2.642	0.174		
SQ-1 D20%	1.149	0.588-2.057	0.579		
SQ-2 D20%	2.287	1.199-4.364	0.012		
SQ-3 D20%	1.048	0.570-1.924	0.881		
DIA-1 D20%	1.334	0.673-1.918	0.346		
DIA-2 D20%	1.460	0.797-2.674	0.221		
	D14% = dichotomiz	ed at 14% threshold			
	D20% = dichotomiz	ed at 20% threshold			

All Ki67 LI evaluations but SQ-1 could significantly distinguish good and unfavorable prognosis at 20% threshold in patients who underwent surgery only (SQ-1 p= 0.085, SQ-2 p<0.001, SQ-3 p= 0.020, DIA-1 p= 0.034, DIA-2 p= 0.010). In the group of patients treated with surgery+chemotherapy, statistically significant prognostic results were seen only with SQ-2 evaluation (p= 0.049, Table 12). Multivariate analyses of Ki67 LI assessments within treatment subgroups were not performed due to the low number of cases compared to relatively numerous clinicopathological factors.

Table 12: Univariate Cox regression analysis of Ki67 LI assessments and pathological factors in the different treatment groups. Only significant factors shown.

Treatment groups	Prognostic factor	Sub	HR	95% CI	p-value			
	IHC Subtype	TNBC	6.642	1.934-22.815	0.003			
	Lymph node status (TNM 7)	1	2.652	1.072-6.562	0.035			
	Mitotic index	>19	3.584	1.076-11.935	0.038			
Surgical treatment only	SQ-1 D14%	-	4.975	1.619-15.287	0.005			
( <b>n=111</b> )	SQ-2 D20%	-	6.836	2.194-21.303	≤0.001			
	SQ-3 D20%	-	3.514	1.217-10.144	0.020			
	DIA-1 D20%	-	3.364	1.098-10.307	0.034			
	DIA-2 D20%	-	4.181	1.402-12.467	0.010			
Surgery+irradiation (n=83)	Tumor size	2-5cm	2.725	1.046-7.102	0.040			
Surgery+chemotherapy	IHC Subtype	Luminal- B like	6.529	1.147-37.165	0.034			
( <b>n=30</b> )	SQ-2 D14%	-	3.018	1.120-9.568	0.049			
Surgery+chemotherapy + irradiation (n=117)	IHC Subtype	HER2	2.923	1.333-6.406	0.007			
D14 D20	D14% = dichotomized at 14% threshold D20% = dichotomized at 20% threshold							

#### 4.3. The role of Ki67 in neoadjuvant setting

# 4.3.1. Defining cut-off points for Ki67 LI in the pCR and pNR groups

ROC curve analysis was used to identify the optimal cut-off value of Ki67 LI that could best predict response to NAC (Figure 10 A). The optimal Ki67 cut-off value was 20% for distinguishing pCR from pNR patient cases (n= 47, AUC 0.767, sensitivity: 95.7%, specificity: 54.3%, p= 0.002). (Figure 10 A).

#### 4.3.2. Defining cut-off points for Ki67 LI based on survival (DMFS and OS)

We also investigated the optimal threshold values for Ki67 LI regarding DMFS and OS. Based on DMFS, we were not able to detect a statistically significant cut-off value for Ki67 LI. The most relevant cut-off value was 20 % (n= 120, AUC 0.591, sensitivity: 82.2%, specificity 35.7, p = 0.208) (Figure 10 B). Based on OS data, the optimal cut-off point occurred at 15% for Ki67 LI (n= 120, AUC 0.708, sensitivity: 92.3%, specificity 29.6, p = 0.006) (Figure 10 C).





Figure 10: ROC curves to define optimal Ki-67 cut-off values for pathological response (A), DMFS (B), OS (C). Green line represents the diagonal reference line. Blue line corresponds to ROC curve. Red circles show the optimal cut-off values based on the ROC curves.

# 4.3.3. Association between Ki67 LI, subtype and pathological response

Pathological response and Ki67 LI at investigated thresholds represented a significant association (Ki67 15% p= 0.001, Ki67 20% p= 0.010, Ki67 30% p= 0.018). The proportion of Ki67 low cases among non-responders was significantly higher compared to pPR and pCR cases (Table 13 A). The distribution of subtypes showed a significant difference in pathological response groups (p< 0.001). Most of the TNBC cases were represented in pCR group, while luminal A cases mainly occurred in pPR and pNR groups (Table 13 B). The Ki67 expression at any investigated cut-off points and subtypes also represented a significant correlation (p<0.001 for all comparisons). Luminal A subtype showed low Ki67, while TNBC and HER2+ cases mostly had high Ki67 (Table 13 C).

Α					
Number of	Pa	thological Respo	nse		
Cases	pCR	pPR	pNR	Total	
Ki-67 low (<15%)	0	19	10	29	
Ki-67 high (≥15%)	23	54	14	91	
Total	23	73	24	120	
Number of	Pa	Pathological Response			
Cases	pCR	pPR	pNR	Total	
Ki-67 low (<20%)	1	24	10	35	
Ki-67 high (≥20%)	22	49	14	85	
Total	23	73	24	120	
Number of	Pa	thological Respo	nse		
Cases	pCR	pPR	pNR	Total	
Ki-67 low (<30%)	6	31	16	53	
Ki-67 high (≥30%)	17	42	8	67	
Total	23	73	24	120	

Table 13: Contingency tables of Ki-67 LI, subtype and pathological response.

1	R
-	

Number of	Pathological Response			
Cases	pCR	Total		
Luminal-A	0	9	6	15
Luminal-B	5	46	14	65
Her2	8	4	2	14
TNBC	10	14	2	26
Total	23	73	24	120

C

Number of		Subt	type		
Cases	Luminal-	Luminal-B	Her2	TNBC	Total
	Α				
Ki-67 low	15	11	1	2	29
(<15%)					
Ki-67 high	0	54	13	24	91
(≥15%)					
Total	15	65	14	26	120
Number of		Subt	type		
Cases	Luminal-	Luminal-B	Her2	TNBC	Total
	Α				
Ki-67 low	15	16	2	2	35
(<20%)					
Ki-67 high	0	49	12	24	85
(≥20%)					
Total	15	65	14	26	120
Number of		Subt	type		
Cases	Luminal-	Luminal-B	Her2	TNBC	Total
	Α				
Ki-67 low	15	28	4	6	53
(<30%)					
Ki-67 high	0	37	10	20	67
(≥30%)					
Total	15	65	14	26	120

The association between Ki67 LI, subtype and pathological response was also investigated without luminal A cases, because NAC is not generally recommended in this subtype due to the high rate of pNR in contrast with the favorable prognosis. Excluding luminal A cases, Ki67 LI at any thresholds and pathological response did not show any significant association (Ki67 15% p= 0.068, Ki67 20% p= 0.122, Ki67 30% p= 0.140) (Table 14 A). Furthermore, Ki67 LI at any investigated cut-off points also did not represent any significant linkage with subtypes (Ki67 15% p= 0.410, Ki67 20% p= 0.158, Ki67 30% p= 0.173) (Table 14C). In contrast to this, subtypes were significantly linked to the pathological response groups (p<0.001). The clear majority of luminal B cases were in pPR and pNR groups, while TNBC cases mostly occurred in pCR subgroup (Table 14 B).

Lummui-A cuses.				
Α				
	Pa	athological Respo	nse	
	pCR	pPR	pNR	Total
Ki-67 low (<15%)	0	10	4	14
Ki-67 high (≥15%)	23	54	14	91
Total	23	64	18	105
Number of	Pa			
Cases	pCR	pPR	pNR	Total
Ki-67 low (<20%)	1	15	4	20
Ki-67 high (≥20%)	22	49	14	85
Total	23	64	18	105
Number of	Pa			
Cases	pCR	pPR	pNR	Total
Ki-67 low (<30%)	6	22	10	38
Ki-67 high (≥30%)	17	42	8	67

Table 14: Contingency tables of Ki-67 LI, subtype and pathological response without Luminal-A cases.

64

105

18

Total

23

B				
Number of	Pa	athological Respo	nse	
Cases	pCR	pPR	pNR	Total
Luminal-B	5	46	14	65
Her2	8	4	2	14
TNBC	10	14	2	26
Total	23	64	18	105

# С

Number of				
Cases	Luminal-B	Her2	TNBC	Total
Ki-67 low	11	1	2	14
(<15%)				
Ki-67 high	54	13	24	91
(≥15%)				
Total	65	14	26	105
Number of				
Cases	Luminal-B	Her2	TNBC	Total
Ki-67 low	16	2	2	20
(<20%)				
Ki-67 high	49	12	24	85
(≥20%)				
Total	65	14	26	105
Number of				
Cases	Luminal-B	Her2	TNBC	Total
Ki-67 low	38	4	6	38
(<30%)				
Ki-67 high	27	10	20	67
(≥30%)				
Total	65	14	36	105

#### 4.3.4. Prognostic potential of Ki67 LI, subtype and pathological response

Neither Ki67 LI at any thresholds nor subtype and not even pathological response were suitable to distinguish patient cohorts with different DMFS (Ki67 15% p= 0.391, Ki67 20% p= 0.185, Ki67 30% p= 0.566, subtype p= 0.771, pathological response p= 0.280). Regarding OS, Ki67 at 15% (p= 0.263) and at 20% threshold failed (p= 0.131), but Ki67 at 30% cut-off value (p= 0.040) furthermore subtype (p= 0.037) as well as pathological response (p=0.044) were suitable to separate patients into good and unfavorable prognosis cohorts (Figure 11). When luminal A cases were excluded, neither Ki67 LI at any cut-off points nor subtype not even pathological response were suitable to perform statistically significant splitting of our cohort into 2 patients' group with different DMFS (Ki67 15% p= 0.426, Ki67 20% p= 0.179, Ki67 30% p= 0.642, subtype p= 0.488, pathological response p= 0.222,) or with different OS (Ki67 15% p= 0.975, Ki67 20% p= 0.518, Ki67 30% p= 0.158, subtype p= 0.072, pathological response p= 0.058).





Figure 11: Kaplan Meier plots of Ki-67, subtype and pathological response. \*Significant.

We also investigated the utility of Ki67 LI at 15%, 20% and 30% thresholds as potential independent predictor of DMFS and OS adjusted by age, pathological response, hormone receptor status, subtypes, histological grade, lymph node, cT and pT status. Neither Ki67 at any thresholds nor any other clinicopathological factors except pT status (p=0.029) showed an independent association with DMFS (Table 15). However, Ki67 LI at 30% threshold (p=0.029) and subtype (p=0.008) were independently linked to OS (Table 15). Without luminal A cases, Ki67 LI at 30% cut-off point (p=0.038) and subtype (p=0.009) represented also an independent association with OS (Table 15).

Multivariate Cox regression	Prognostic factor	HR	95% CI	p-value
Distant metastasis- free survival (n=120)	рТ	2.397	1.094-5.252	0.029
Overall survival	IHC Subtype	2.230	1.231-4.043	0.008
(n=120)	Ki-67 LI D30%	5.286	1.189-23.488	0.029
Overall survival without luminal A	IHC Subtype	2.135	1.202-3.785	0.009
cases (n=105)	Ki-67 LI D30%	4.850	1.089-18.379	0.038

Table 15: Multivariate Cox regression analysis of the Ki-67 and the clinicopathological factors regarding distant metastasis-free survival and overall survival. Only significant factors shown.

# 4.3.5. Ki67 LI in the partial responder group (pPR)

The prognostic potential of Ki67 LI was also investigated in pPR subgroup that represents a heterogeneous group with a response rate to NAC between 10-90%. Attempting to find the most relevant threshold for Ki67 LI, we could conclude that, the best cut-off value in pPR group based on DMFS was 20% (n= 73, AUC 0.683, sensitivity: 82.4%, specificity 41.5%, p = 0.055, Figure 12 A), and 30% based on OS (n= 73, AUC 0.808, sensitivity: 92.2%, specificity 52.6, p = 0.001, Figure 12 B). No significant association was found between Ki67 LI and pPR subgroups (pPRi, pPRii, pPRiii; p=0.653)



Figure 12: ROC curves to define optimal Ki-67 cut-off values for DMFS (A), OS (B) in pPR group. Green line represents the diagonal reference line. Blue line corresponds to ROC curve. Red circles show the optimal cut-off values based on the ROC curves.

For prognosis prediction, neither Ki67 LI at any cut-off value (Ki67 20% p= 0.233, Ki67 30% p=0.336), nor subtype (p=0.218) not even pPR subgroups (p=0.669) were able to distinguish patient cohorts with different DMFS. Regarding OS, pPR subgroups (p=0.590) and Ki67 at 20% threshold failed (p=0.095), but Ki67 at 30% cut-off point (p=0.037) and subtype (0.015) were suitable to separate patients into good and unfavorable prognosis cohorts (Figure 13).



Figure 13: Kaplan Meier plots of Ki-67, subtype and pathological response in pPR group. \*Significant.

#### 5. **DISCUSSION**

The ongoing debate and open questions regarding Ki67 immunohistochemistry in breast cancer pathology prompted us to perform a study with the aim to clarify whether various commercially available Ki67 antibodies perform similarly as well as to investigate whether with the generally suggested 20-30% positivity thresholds, these Ki67 antibodies could be meaningful with respect to prognosis as measured by duration of DFS.

Comparison of various Ki67 antibodies was performed earlier and differences in positivity rates were detected by different Ki67 antibodies [139,140,153]. In our study, we found that although MIB1, SP6, 30-9, poly, B56, and MIB1-IF represented a moderate concordance, statistically significant differences were noticed between the Ki67 LI scores of these antibodies. Highest agreement was found between MIB1 and poly, MIB1 and B56, poly and 30-9 as well as between 30-9 and SP6, while poor agreement was detected between SP6 and B56, 30-9 and B56 as well as between SP6 and MIB1-IF (Figure 14). Besides these findings, the variability of differences between the Ki67 LI scores of the antibodies represented an increasing trend, proportional to the magnitude of Ki67 LI measurements. Furthermore, a systematic error emerged in the variability of differences between the Ki67 LI scores of the same microscopic fields were evaluated, the limits of agreement were wide between the antibodies compared to the acceptable range in pathological practice, resulting considerable differences in Ki67 LI values.











Figure 14: Immunohistochemical and immunofluorescent reactions of the five Ki67 antibodies. Highest agreement was found between MIB1 (A, magnification 15x, Ki67 LI: 0%) and poly (B, magnification 15x, Ki67 LI: 1%), MIB1(C, magnification 15x, Ki67 LI: 10%) and B56 (D, magnification 15x, Ki67 LI: 10%), poly (E, magnification 15x, Ki67 LI: 90%) and 30-9 (F, magnification 15x, Ki67 LI: 90%). Lowest agreement was represented between SP6 (G, magnification 15x, Ki67 LI: 40%) and B56 (H, magnification 15x, Ki67 LI: 5%), SP6 (I, magnification 20x, Ki67 LI: 50%) and MIB1-IF (J, magnification 20x, Ki67 LI: 5%). Pictures on the same page show Ki67 reactions from the same case.

Ki67 immunohistochemistry has been widely used in oncology decision-making even though the International Ki67 in Breast Cancer Working Group of the Breast International Group and North American Breast Cancer Group (BIG-NABCG) had been warning against its use in clinical practice [142,154,155]. The reason why this group of experts insists to prevent oncologists to use Ki67 IHC results in therapy decision making is manifold, but first and foremost the problems with its analytical validity have been emphasized. In their latest paper one of the take home messages is the following: .... we maintain that, unless and until preanalytical and analytical features for immunohistochemistry of Ki67 can be standardized, this assay platform should not be used to drive patient-care decisions in clinical practice" [154]. Our emphasis in this investigation was on an analytical issue: The selection of the Ki67 antibody. We feel that postanalytical issues (i.e. interpretation) didn't bias our results since we have used the same method (estimation or "eye-balling") with the same two observers for evaluating the Ki67 IHC slides, and in case of discordant scoring, scores were given following a consensus between the two evaluating pathologists. In our studies, it was agreed that all positivity pattern and intensity are to be considered.

The relevance of Ki67 as a prognostic factor was described earlier and its predictive power to chemotherapy response rate was discussed both in the adjuvant and the neoadjuvant settings [119,129,156]. In our study, all the Ki67 antibodies except MIB1-IF were suitable to subdivide our patient cohort into a better and a worse prognostic group at 20% cut-off. At 30% threshold, B56 and MIB1-IF failed, while MIB1, poly, SP6 and 30-9 could distinguish good and unfavorable outcome patients' cohorts. However, in multivariate analyses, only poly at 20% cut-off was significantly linked to DFS besides lymph node status, while at 30% threshold only lymph node status represented an independent association with survival.

In a larger study analyzing breast cancer samples and disease outcome in the GeparTrio trial with respect to Ki67 it was elegantly shown that defining one cut-point for Ki67 positivity is most probably not optimal and that this practice oversimplifies and does not reflect the heterogeneous biology of the disease [157]. Instead, low, intermediate and high Ki67 LI thresholds should be identified to achieve a better estimation regarding the expected therapy response. Another important finding in this study was that a single, universal Ki67 LI for the prediction of pathological complete response in the

70

neoadjuvant setting is not useful if we consider the different molecular (or surrogate) subtypes of breast cancer.

To exclude bias related to different treatment protocols, we have also investigated the prognosis prediction potential of the 5 antibodies in each treatment subgroup. By multivariate analyses, none of the 5 antibodies represented an independent association with DFS in the subgroup of patients who had irradiation only, and in the patient subgroup treated with the combination of irradiation and chemotherapy. By univariate analyses (due to the low number of cases and/or event rates), Ki67 LI scores of all the antibodies -except SP6 at 20% threshold and MIB1-IF at all cut-off scores- were suitable to distinguish good and unfavorable prognosis patients' cohorts in the patient subgroup with surgery only. However, in patient subgroup treated with chemotherapy, none of the Ki67 antibodies could perform statistically significant splitting of our cohort into 2 patient groups with distinct DFS.

To the best of our knowledge, similar study- where different 5+1 Ki67 antibodies were evaluated according to their capacity to predict DFS in operable breast cancer patients at the presently suggested 20-30% positivity ratio threshold- has not yet been performed.

The weakness of our retrospective study comparing 5+1 Ki67 antibodies is i.) the relatively low number of cases, for which reason we could not address the question of molecular/surrogate subtypes and the definition of optimal Ki67 LI thresholds for separating them, and ii-) only DFS data were available. Furthermore, iii) the clinical utility of Ki67 LI in breast cancer can be determined in whole slide analysis. However, the main purpose of this study was to compare the IHC expression of five different Ki67 antibodies in breast cancer in relation with DFS. Therefore, we did not exclude our HER2 positive and TNBC cases from this comparative study. We believe that the use of TMA to compare expression patterns of different Ki67 antibodies is appropriate.

We feel however, that the strengths override the weaknesses: We thoroughly evaluated five different Ki67 antibodies, including the most widely used MIB1 and the FDA approved Ventana 30-9 and we have correlated the results to disease prognosis (DFS). We could also evaluate the performance of each of the Ki67 antibodies in different treatment-stratified analyses. Our cases come from a single hospital, so fixation, tissue processing and other preanalytical issues influenced the immunohistochemical results uniformly.

71
Our results provide further evidence that the selection of the routinely used Ki67 antibody has great influence on the values of the Ki67 labeling index. Moreover, considerable differences occurred between the antibodies in detecting Ki67, even though the same microscopic fields were evaluated. According to our findings, only the immunofluorescent labeled MIB1 (at 20% and 30% thresholds) and B56 (at 30% threshold) failed to distinguish favorable and poor prognosis patients' cohorts (even if HER2 and TNBC cases were included). The widely used MIB1 LI was not proved to be an independent prognostic factor compared to that of poly antibody. However, MIB1, poly and 30-9 had the highest concordance among the five antibodies. Furthermore, none of the five antibodies had significant prognostic potential in patients treated with chemotherapy and/or irradiation.

The other reason besides preanalytical and analytical factors why the International Ki67 in Breast Cancer Working Group did not advise the application of Ki67 IHC results in therapy decision making is the high discrepancy between observers in Ki67 scorings resulting high interobserver variability [116,142]. Ring studies showed that moderate intraclass correlation (0.59-0.71) achieved between observers performing SQ evaluations, could be improved to 0.92, based on systematic training and following the guidelines [142,154]. We also performed a study with the aim to investigate the reproducibility between Ki67 evaluations. Although we found very good consistency between SQ evaluations, statistically significant difference and poor concordance also occurred between SQ-1 and SQ-2 as well as between SQ-1 and SQ-3. Besides this, the variability of differences between SQ-1 and SQ-2 as well as SQ-1 and SQ-3 represented a proportional error. The possible explanation for the discrepancy might be that SQ-1 has the least experience in daily diagnostic practice. This observation might emphasize the relevance of consecutive experience and training in breast pathology. In the 2013 Ki67 ring study of the Japan Breast Cancer Research Group intraclass correlation ranged from 0.57 to 0.66 when pathologists scored whole slides applying counting and visual estimate methods [158]. When they evaluated printed photographs of Ki67 stained slides to exclude variations by assessment of varied microscopic field, 0.82-0.94 of intraclass correlation was observed [158]. This study has claimed that the standardization of assessment area might be the essential point to evaluate Ki67 with high reproducibility [158]. We performed Ki67 evaluation on TMA slides to avoid

#### DOI:10.14753/SE.2018.2164

variation in scorings by different microscopic fields. Concerning the relative difference between cases, a very good intraclass correlation was observed between our pathologists, suggesting the area of interest to be assessed is essential regarding Ki67 LI. This conclusion was also implied in a recent study where the highest agreement between pathologists was observed when regions of interest were defined on whole slides to be assessed for Ki67 LI [141].

In the work of the Japan Breast Cancer Research Group, counting method was slightly superior to visual estimation [158]. In our studies, for SQ assessment the "eye balling" method was applied, because it was shown in numerous investigations that visual estimation could be just as good as the meticulous counting method of the ratio of positive tumor cell nuclei among all tumor cell nuclei [124,140,141]. Furthermore, visual estimation is less time-consuming and the possibility of miscalculation also persists as chance of error for the counting method.

Digital image analysis offers the opportunity to assess Ki67 LI more objectively and with increased reproducibility, but concordance compared to conventional evaluations is currently under examination [159,160]. In a recent study, an ICC of 0.885 was observed, when DIA Ki67 LI and conventional SQ Ki67 LI assessments were compared [161]. They performed Ki67 LI evaluations on whole slides of 50 cases of breast cancer, selecting 3-5 hot spots to be assessed, and both methods were performed on identical high-power fields [161]. Similarly, high concordance (ICC: 0.93) was found between the fully automated DIA assessment and SQ evaluation by Klauschen et al., who performed Ki67 IHC on whole core biopsies from 1,082 patients [162]. In our study, both automated DIA and adjustable DIA assessments represented substantial or outstanding agreement with SQ-RV evaluation. However, adjustable DIA seemed superior to automated DIA, since only the adjustable DIA assessments showed no proportional error compared to SQ-RV and the variability of their differences did not show an increasing trend, proportional to the magnitude of Ki67 LI. Furthermore, significant difference was observed between automated DIA and SQ-RV evaluations, while adjustable DIA and SQ-RV did not differ significantly. This result was also observed in the study by Laurinavicius et al. who found improvement in DIA evaluation when quality assessment was achieved on the default automated DIA evaluation [146]. In our study, significant difference was found between automated DIA and adjustable

#### DOI:10.14753/SE.2018.2164

DIA assessments. Basically, DIA method is more dependent on IHC staining quality, than conventional evaluation, since the human brain is able to compensate inadequate IHC quality [147]. Unequal tissue thickness and folds, cracks on glass slides, uneven coverglass glue layer might also lead to suboptimal quality in scanning slides and to false image analysis results [147]. In our opinion, significant discrepancies between our DIA methods were due to these features (Figure 15), which can be avoided by a pathologist's adjustment and by standardization of preanalytical and analytical steps of IHC. In our investigation, it has been also demonstrated, that the adjustable DIA is as robust as the visual estimation of Ki67 LI performed by well-trained and experienced pathologists.

Some authors have compared Ki67 LI assessment obtained by DIA to survival rates such as disease-free survival and overall survival [147]. To investigate the outcome prediction potential of Ki67 LI, dichotomizing is needed at a well-defined cut-off point. However, former guidelines have recommended different thresholds for such dichotomization; recent studies suggest, that an optimal cut-off score for Ki67 LI is not definable [63,89]. Thus, local laboratory specific cut-off points or Ki67 LI as a continuous marker should be applied to assess proliferation potential of the tumor [123]. In a recent study, the prognosis prediction of DIA Ki67 evaluation was significant in univariate analysis, although in multivariate analysis it has not remained significant compared to conventional clinicopathological factors [163]. In contrast with the results of this study, Klauschen reported that Ki6 LI obtained by automated DIA was significantly linked to prognosis in multivariate analysis adjusted by age, grade, ER, PgR and HER2 status as well as T status [162]. To ensure comparability between SQ's and DIA's prognosis prediction potential, we have utilized the widely applied 14% and 20% cut-offs for each assessment. In our hands, none of the Ki67 evaluations (regardless of DIA and SQ methods) were significantly linked to DFS at 14% threshold. However, at 20% threshold one of the three SQ assessments (SQ-2) was an independent prognostic factor besides lymph node status.





Figure 15: False detections were observed due to irrelevant Ki-67 staining [A] with automated DIA (DIA-1). These issues could be controlled by adjustable DIA method (DIA-2) with the presence of the pathologist [B]. Automated DIA (automated intensity threshold setting) was not able to recognize most of the tumor cells in some cases [C]. The reason for underestimated cell recognition is the inadequate quality of tissue processing. However, with adjustment of DIA (DIA-2 with adjustable intensity threshold), the vast majority of tumor cells were detected [D].

To exclude bias related to different treatment protocols, we have also investigated the prognosis prediction potential of Ki67 LI assessments in each treatment subgroup. All Ki67 evaluations but SQ-1 could distinguish good and unfavorable patient cohorts at 20% cut-off in the surgical treatment only subgroup, while in the patient subgroup treated with surgery+chemotherapy SQ-2 was able to perform statistically splitting the cohort. In treatment subgroups of surgery+irradiation and surgery+irradiation+ chemotherapy combination no prognosis prediction potential was observed for any Ki67 evaluation.

The limitation of our retrospective study comparing SQ and DIA evaluations is that Ki67 evaluations were performed on TMA slides, which might raise the possibility of underrepresented tumor areas related to prognosis prediction, even if we have used two cores from each case. Furthermore, we could retrieve DFS only from clinical data. Although preanalytical and analytical steps were not standardized in the contemporary terms, all the cases were collected from a single hospital resulting in uniform preanalytical conditions. Thus fixation, tissue processing and other preanalytical issues affected the immunohistochemical results uniformly. Therefore, we considered that preanalytical and analytical issues didn't bias our results since all of our observers evaluated the same slides, thus discrepancies between final Ki67 LI values were derived from variability of each observer's evaluations. Clinical data related to chemotherapy protocols were not available. Thus, we were not able to investigate predictive significance of each Ki67 evaluations for different chemotherapy regimens. In treatment stratified analyses, multivariate Cox regression was not performed due to low number of cases compared with events to relatively many clinicopathological factors.

Neoadjuvant systemic therapy is being increasingly used in the treatment of early stage breast cancer. Despite several classification systems developed for the assessment of pathologic response to NAC there is a current lack in uniformity regarding the definition of pathologic complete response [164,165]. Since pCR is considered as the primary endpoint for response to chemotherapy, most studies focus attention on pCR cases, while detailed analyses of partial responder or non-responder cases are relatively rare [129]. One of the hot topics in neoadjuvant therapy of breast cancer patients involves the question of reliable prognostic and predictive markers. Some of the questions about the performance of Ki67 LI as well as NAC in daily clinical practice

77

concern the issue of cut points for Ki67 LI and its use as prognostic or predictive marker. Different cut points are described, with values varying between 5% and 34% for OS [166], between 3%-94% for pCR, and between 6%-46% for DMFS [124,157]. The 2013 St. Gallen consensus recommended a Ki67 LI cut-off value of 14% for the separation of luminal A and - B tumors, but in the footnote of the respective table there was a note indicating 20% as cut-off for "high" Ki67 LI [123].

Our finding is in agreement with the results of Denkert et al. according to which Ki67 is a mixed prognostic and predictive marker with its effect differing in opposite directions as regards prognosis and prediction [89].

Our study revealed that a Ki67 LI cut-off value of about 20% distinguished pCR from pNR cases, whereas patients with Ki67 expression lower than 30% demonstrated a higher chance of better overall survival. Increased Ki67 LI was linked to worse OS, meaning that at least in some subgroups higher Ki67 expression was related to increased response to NAC and was also associated with worse prognosis. These data may suggest that if a tumor belongs to the group showing no response to NAC, increased Ki67 is a marker of poor prognosis.

Denkert et al. also suggest that based on Ki67 expression there are three different groups of tumors, such as a group with low Ki67 with good outcome, a group showing high Ki67 and good outcome and a third group with high Ki67 linked to poor outcome [89]. There are relatively few studies addressing the question of the role of Ki67 LI in non-responder or pPR groups, even if most cases treated with NAC show only partial response to chemotherapy.

In our study, most cases (60.83%) belonged to the pPR group. Based on Ki67 expression, this group represented a mixture of tumors showing Ki67 expression ranging from 1% to 100%. We analyzed whether the group of patients showing a near complete pathologic response (pPRi) showed higher Ki67 expression compared to pPRii and pPRiii. According to our findings, there were no significant differences between these groups regarding Ki67 expression. Based on the patients' follow-up data and using ROC analysis, the most relevant prognostic cut-off value for the Ki67 LI in the pPR group was 20% based on DMFS and 30% based on OS.

78

Balmativola et al. analyzed markers of non-response to NAC. Using ROC analysis, they identified a cut-off value of 18% for Ki67 LI that performed well in differentiating the pNR and pCR + pPR categories [129].

In our study, Ki67 expression was found to be higher than 20% in all patients achieving pCR and we detected distant metastases in only one out of twenty-three pCR cases. In our study a Ki67 LI of 20% was found capable of significantly distinguishing between the pCR and pNR groups. Despite this finding, however, it cannot be concluded that this is the only or best threshold for Ki67 LI, since the question then arises as to why a significant number of tumors with a Ki67 value higher than 20% did not reach pCR.

Based on our results, both Ki67 and subtype showed significant association with pathological response. However, when luminal A cases were excluded, only subtype and pathological response were significantly linked, so we could conclude that subtype has a significant impact on the association between Ki67 LI and pathological response. In contrast to this, both Ki67 and subtype were independently associated with OS, while pathological response did not show significant relation with OS. Furthermore, both Ki67 and subtype were suitable to separate pPR patients into good and unfavorable prognosis cohorts.

The weakness of the retrospective study investigating the role of Ki67 in neoadjuvant setting is the relatively low number of cases, for which reason i.) we could not define the optimal Ki-67 cut-off point for each subtype. ii.) We could not investigate whether Ki-67 is suitable to predict pathological response in each subtype. Similarly, we could not address the question of the prognostic potential of Ki-67 for each subtype in breast cancer patients who underwent neoadjuvant chemotherapy. iii.) We could not perform treatment-stratified analyses.

79

### 6. CONCLUSIONS

In the routine histopathological evaluation of breast cancer cases - due to the increasing importance and use of Ki67 labeling index - the selection and then the validation of Ki67 antibody requires great caution. Our results suggest that, as MIB1, poly, 30-9 antibodies showed the highest performance, they are suitable to detect Ki67 expression in the daily practice. We believe that this study provides a partial explanation to the various suggested Ki67 LI cut-off values in different published series of breast cancer cases.

The pathologists' experience is essential to control and adjust DIA and to avoid false detections. We also demonstrate that the adjustable DIA can be a feasible and reproducible tool to evaluate Ki67 LI in breast cancer which may support standardization efforts.

Neoadjuvant chemotherapy is more efficient in tumors presenting at least 20% Ki67 LI. A cut-off value of 20% distinguished pCR from pNR cases. Increased Ki67 LI was linked to worse OS, meaning that at least in some subgroups higher Ki67 expression is related to increased response to NAC and is also associated with worse prognosis. Additionally, our data also suggest that if a tumor is non-responder to NAC, increased Ki67 LI is a poor prognostic marker. Moreover, we provide further evidence that Ki67 LI is a significant and independent prognostic marker in breast cancer. Thus, we can conclude that Ki67 has potential utility in the clinical management of breast cancer. However, we can also state that Ki67 LI in itself is not suitable to decide whether a breast cancer patient should be treated with NAC or not.

### 7. SUMMARY

Objectives: Three aspects of clinical validity of Ki67 labeling index (LI) were investigated in breast cancer as follows: i) The comparison of different Ki67 antibodies used in daily practice. ii) The reproducibility between pathologists evaluating Ki67 LI semi-quantitatively (SQ) and the potential of digital image-analysis (DIA) in Ki67 scoring. iii) The role of Ki67 in neoadjuvant setting.

Methods: Two breast cancer patient cohorts were enrolled in the investigations encompassing 498 patients totally: i) 378 consecutive breast cancer cases and ii) 120 patients diagnosed with invasive breast cancer and treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy (NAC) were retrospectively recruited. Five antibodies were used to detect Ki-67 expression: MIB-1-using chromogenic detection and immunofluorescent labeling (IF), SP-6, 30-9, poly and B56. SQ evaluations were performed independently by three pathologists. DIA was completed using a fully automated histological pattern and cell recognition module for Ki67 LI detection (DIA-1) and an adjustable module (DIA-2) with the possibility of manual corrections.

Results: All the antibodies but MIB-1IF and B56 separated high and low risk patient groups. The highest concordance was found between MIB-1, poly and 30-9 antibodies. Significant difference and poor concordance occurred between SQ-1 and SQ-2 as well as between SQ-1 and SQ-3. Thus, the reference Ki67 LI value (SQ-RV) was generated from the mean values of SQ-2 and SQ-3. SQ-RV and DIA-2 results showed substantial concordance, while SQ-RV and DIA-1 values differed at only moderate concordance. The most relevant cut-off value for Ki-67 distinguishing complete remission cases from non-responders was 20%. Ki67 LI and partial responder subgroups were not significantly associated. In multivariate analyses, Ki67 LI were independently linked to survival.

Conclusions: Our results suggest that, MIB1, poly and 30-9 antibodies are suitable to detect Ki67 expression in the daily practice. The pathologists' experience is essential to control and adjust DIA and to avoid false detections. We demonstrate that the adjustable DIA can be a feasible and reproducible tool to evaluate Ki67 LI in breast cancer. We can conclude that Ki67 has utility in the clinical management of breast cancer. We can also state that Ki67 LI in itself is not suitable to decide whether a breast cancer patient should be treated with NAC or not.

# 8. ÖSSZEFOGLALÁS

Célkitűzések: A Ki67 proliferációs index (LI) klinikai validitásának három aspektusát vizsgáltuk emlőrákban: i) a rutinban használt különböző antitestek összehasonlítása. ii) A patológusok által szemi-kvantitatívan (SQ) meghatározott Ki67 LI értékelések reprodukálhatósága és a digitális kép-elemzés (DIA) jelentősége a Ki67 LI értékelésben. iii) A Ki67 LI szerepe a neoadjuváns kezelés előrejelzésében.

Módszerek: Két emlődaganatos kohorszot, összesen 498 beteget vontunk be a kutatásainkba: i) 378 konszekutív emlődaganatos beteget és ii) 120 neoadjuváns kemoterápiával (NAC) kezelt emlőrákos beteget vizsgáltunk retrospektív módon. Öt antitestet használtunk a Ki67 kifejeződés detektálásra: MIB1 kromogén és immunfluoreszcens jelöléssel, SP-6, 30-9, poly és B56. A SQ értékeléseket három patológus végezte egymástól függetlenül. A DIA során egy teljesen automatikus szöveti mintázat- és sejtfelismerő modult (DIA-1) és egy manuálisan állítható adjusztálható modult (DIA-2) használtunk a Ki67 LI értékelésére.

Eredmények: A MIB1-IF és B56 antitestek kivételével valamennyi vizsgált antitest képes volt elkülöníteni az alacsony és magas kockázatú betegcsoportokat. A legmagasabb konkordanciát a MIB1, poly és 30-9 antitestek mutatták. Szignifikáns különbséget és alacsony konkordanciát tapasztaltunk az SQ-1 és SQ-2, illetve az SQ-1 és SQ-3 értékelések között, így Ki67 LI referencia értéknek (SQ-RV) az SQ-2 és SQ-3 értékelések átlagát jelöltük ki. Az SQ-RV és DIA-2 értékelések kiváló konkordanciát mutattak, míg az SQ-RV és DIA-1 értékelések összehasonlításakor szignifikáns különbséget és közepes konkordanciát tapasztaltunk. A neoadjuváns kezelésre nem reagáló – és a komplett remissziót mutató betegcsoportokat elkülönítő Ki67 LI határérték 20% volt. A parciális válasz mértéke és a Ki67 LI kifejeződés között nem találtunk összefüggést. A multivariáns elemzésekben a KI67 LI független prognosztikus markernek bizonyult.

Következtetések: A MIB1, 30-9 és poly antitestek alkalmasak a Ki67 kifejeződés meghatározására a patológiai rutinban. A patológus tapasztalata nélkülözhetetlen a DIA beállítására és kontrollálására a fals észlelések elkerülése végett. Az adjusztálható DIA hasznos és megbízható eszköz Ki67 LI értékelésére emlőrákban. Eredményeink szerint a Ki67 LI marker klinikai jelentőséggel bír az emlőrák ellátásában, ugyanakkor önmagában nem alkalmas a neoadjuváns kezelésre adott válasz előrejelzésére.

## 9. **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Ferlay J SI, Ervik M, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, Rebelo M, Parkin DM, Forman D, Bray, F. (2013) GLOBOCAN 2012 v1.0, Cancer Incidence and Mortality Worldwide: IARC CancerBase No. 11 [Internet]. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer; Available from: <u>http://globocan.iarc.fr</u>, accessed on 24/March/2017.
- Nemzeti Rákregiszter Adatbázis (National Cancer Registry Database) (2012). Available from: <u>http://www.onkol.hu/hu/rakregiszter-statisztika</u>, accessed on 24/March/2017.
- Forrai G, Szabo E, Ormandi K, Ambrozay E, Pentek Z, Milics M, Rajtar M, Sinkovics I. (2010) [Imaging methods in the current diagnosis of and screening for breast cancer]. Magy Onkol, 54 (3):211-216.
- 4. Stingl J, Caldas C. (2007) Molecular heterogeneity of breast carcinomas and the cancer stem cell hypothesis. Nat Rev Cancer, 7 (10):791-799.
- Lakhani SR, Ellis. I.O., Schnitt, S.J., Tan, P.H., van de Vijver, M.J. WHO classification of tumours of the breast. International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon, 2012
- Eheman CR, Shaw KM, Ryerson AB, Miller JW, Ajani UA, White MC. (2009) The changing incidence of in situ and invasive ductal and lobular breast carcinomas: United States, 1999-2004. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 18 (6):1763-1769.
- Perou CM, Sorlie T, Eisen MB, van de Rijn M, Jeffrey SS, Rees CA, Pollack JR, Ross DT, Johnsen H, Akslen LA, Fluge O, Pergamenschikov A, Williams C, Zhu SX, Lonning PE, Borresen-Dale AL, Brown PO, Botstein D. (2000) Molecular portraits of human breast tumours. Nature, 406 (6797):747-752.
- Sorlie T, Perou CM, Tibshirani R, Aas T, Geisler S, Johnsen H, Hastie T, Eisen MB, van de Rijn M, Jeffrey SS, Thorsen T, Quist H, Matese JC, Brown PO, Botstein D, Lonning PE, Borresen-Dale AL. (2001) Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 98 (19):10869-10874.
- 9. Schnitt SJ. (2010) Classification and prognosis of invasive breast cancer: from morphology to molecular taxonomy. Mod Pathol, 23 Suppl 2:S60-64.

- Dai X, Li T, Bai Z, Yang Y, Liu X, Zhan J, Shi B. (2015) Breast cancer intrinsic subtype classification, clinical use and future trends. Am J Cancer Res, 5 (10):2929-2943.
- Tang Y, Wang Y, Kiani MF, Wang B. (2016) Classification, Treatment Strategy, and Associated Drug Resistance in Breast Cancer. Clin Breast Cancer, 16 (5):335-343.
- Senkus E, Kyriakides S, Ohno S, Penault-Llorca F, Poortmans P, Rutgers E, Zackrisson S, Cardoso F. (2015) Primary breast cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol, 26 Suppl 5:v8-30.
- 13. Malhotra GK, Zhao X, Band H, Band V. (2010) Histological, molecular and functional subtypes of breast cancers. Cancer Biol Ther, 10 (10):955-960.
- Elston CW, Ellis IO, Pinder SE. (1999) Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol, 31 (3):209-223.
- Ellis IO, Galea M, Broughton N, Locker A, Blamey RW, Elston CW. (1992) Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. II. Histological type. Relationship with survival in a large study with long-term follow-up. Histopathology, 20 (6):479-489.
- Pereira H, Pinder SE, Sibbering DM, Galea MH, Elston CW, Blamey RW, Robertson JF, Ellis IO. (1995) Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. IV: Should you be a typer or a grader? A comparative study of two histological prognostic features in operable breast carcinoma. Histopathology, 27 (3):219-226.
- 17. Clayton F. (1986) Pure mucinous carcinomas of breast: morphologic features and prognostic correlates. Hum Pathol, 17 (1):34-38.
- Carstens PH, Greenberg RA, Francis D, Lyon H. (1985) Tubular carcinoma of the breast. A long term follow-up. Histopathology, 9 (3):271-280.
- Wargotz ES, Silverberg SG. (1988) Medullary carcinoma of the breast: a clinicopathologic study with appraisal of current diagnostic criteria. Hum Pathol, 19 (11):1340-1346.
- 20. Page DL, Dixon JM, Anderson TJ, Lee D, Stewart HJ. (1983) Invasive cribriform carcinoma of the breast. Histopathology, 7 (4):525-536.

- 21. Haagensen CD, Lane N, Lattes R, Bodian C. (1978) Lobular neoplasia (socalled lobular carcinoma in situ) of the breast. Cancer, 42 (2):737-769.
- 22. Fisher ER, Gregorio RM, Redmond C, Fisher B. (1977) Tubulolobular invasive breast cancer: a variant of lobular invasive cancer. Hum Pathol, 8 (6):679-683.
- Trent IJ, 2nd, Benjamin RS, Valero V. (2001) Primary soft tissue sarcoma of the breast. Curr Treat Options Oncol, 2 (2):169-176.
- Siegel R, Ward E, Brawley O, Jemal A. (2011) Cancer statistics, 2011: the impact of eliminating socioeconomic and racial disparities on premature cancer deaths. CA Cancer J Clin, 61 (4):212-236.
- 25. Tao Z, Shi A, Lu C, Song T, Zhang Z, Zhao J. (2015) Breast Cancer: Epidemiology and Etiology. Cell Biochem Biophys, 72 (2):333-338.
- 26. Lauria R, Perrone F, Carlomagno C, De Laurentiis M, Morabito A, Gallo C, Varriale E, Pettinato G, Panico L, Petrella G, et al. (1995) The prognostic value of lymphatic and blood vessel invasion in operable breast cancer. Cancer, 76 (10):1772-1778.
- Packaud RA, Prosnitz LR, Bobrow SN. (1977) Selection of breast cancer patients for adjuvant chemotherapy. Another look at the prognostic importance of involved lymph nodes. JAMA, 238 (10):1034-1036.
- Wo JY, Chen K, Neville BA, Lin NU, Punglia RS. (2011) Effect of very small tumor size on cancer-specific mortality in node-positive breast cancer. J Clin Oncol, 29 (19):2619-2627.
- 29. Sinn HP, Helmchen B, Wittekind CH. (2010) [TNM classification of breast cancer: changes and comments on the 7th edition]. Pathologe, 31 (5):361-366.
- Elston EW, Ellis IO. (1993) Method for grading breast cancer. J Clin Pathol, 46 (2):189-190.
- Galea MH, Blamey RW, Elston CE, Ellis IO. (1992) The Nottingham Prognostic Index in primary breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 22 (3):207-219.
- Cserni G, Francz M, Jaray B, Kalman E, Kovacs I, Kulka J, Orosz Z, Udvarhelyi N, Vass L. (2010) [Pathologic diagnosis and histopathology record of breast cancer]. Magy Onkol, 54 (3):217-226.
- De Leeuw WJ, Berx G, Vos CB, Peterse JL, Van de Vijver MJ, Litvinov S, Van Roy F, Cornelisse CJ, Cleton-Jansen AM. (1997) Simultaneous loss of E-

cadherin and catenins in invasive lobular breast cancer and lobular carcinoma in situ. J Pathol, 183 (4):404-411.

- Mastracci TL, Tjan S, Bane AL, O'Malley FP, Andrulis IL. (2005) E-cadherin alterations in atypical lobular hyperplasia and lobular carcinoma in situ of the breast. Mod Pathol, 18 (6):741-751.
- 35. Kuroda H, Tamaru J, Takeuchi I, Ohnisi K, Sakamoto G, Adachi A, Kaneko K, Itoyama S. (2006) Expression of E-cadherin, alpha-catenin, and beta-catenin in tubulolobular carcinoma of the breast. Virchows Arch, 448 (4):500-505.
- 36. Rakha EA, Putti TC, Abd El-Rehim DM, Paish C, Green AR, Powe DG, Lee AH, Robertson JF, Ellis IO. (2006) Morphological and immunophenotypic analysis of breast carcinomas with basal and myoepithelial differentiation. J Pathol, 208 (4):495-506.
- 37. Rakha EA, El-Sayed ME, Green AR, Paish EC, Lee AH, Ellis IO. (2007) Breast carcinoma with basal differentiation: a proposal for pathology definition based on basal cytokeratin expression. Histopathology, 50 (4):434-438.
- 38. Leibl S, Gogg-Kammerer M, Sommersacher A, Denk H, Moinfar F. (2005) Metaplastic breast carcinomas: are they of myoepithelial differentiation?: immunohistochemical profile of the sarcomatoid subtype using novel myoepithelial markers. Am J Surg Pathol, 29 (3):347-353.
- Welch DR, McClure SA, Aeed PA, Bahner MJ, Adams LD. (1990) Tumor progression- and metastasis-associated proteins identified using a model of locally recurrent rat mammary adenocarcinomas. Clin Exp Metastasis, 8 (6):533-551.
- 40. Sager R. (1989) Tumor suppressor genes: the puzzle and the promise. Science, 246 (4936):1406-1412.
- Levin I. (1901) Cell Proliferation under Pathological Conditions with Special reference to the Etiology of tumors : (An Experimental Study.). J Med Res, 6 (1):145-155.
- 42. Koller PC. (1947) Abnormal mitosis in tumours. Br J Cancer, 1 (1):38-47.
- 43. Bartek J, Bartkova J, Vojtesek B, Staskova Z, Rejthar A, Kovarik J, Lane DP. (1990) Patterns of expression of the p53 tumour suppressor in human breast tissues and tumours in situ and in vitro. Int J Cancer, 46 (5):839-844.

- 44. Narod S, Lynch H, Conway T, Watson P, Feunteun J, Lenoir G. (1993) Increasing incidence of breast cancer in family with BRCA1 mutation. Lancet, 341 (8852):1101-1102.
- 45. van 't Veer LJ, Dai H, van de Vijver MJ, He YD, Hart AA, Mao M, Peterse HL, van der Kooy K, Marton MJ, Witteveen AT, Schreiber GJ, Kerkhoven RM, Roberts C, Linsley PS, Bernards R, Friend SH. (2002) Gene expression profiling predicts clinical outcome of breast cancer. Nature, 415 (6871):530-536.
- 46. van de Vijver MJ, He YD, van't Veer LJ, Dai H, Hart AA, Voskuil DW, Schreiber GJ, Peterse JL, Roberts C, Marton MJ, Parrish M, Atsma D, Witteveen A, Glas A, Delahaye L, van der Velde T, Bartelink H, Rodenhuis S, Rutgers ET, Friend SH, Bernards R. (2002) A gene-expression signature as a predictor of survival in breast cancer. N Engl J Med, 347 (25):1999-2009.
- 47. Wang Y, Klijn JG, Zhang Y, Sieuwerts AM, Look MP, Yang F, Talantov D, Timmermans M, Meijer-van Gelder ME, Yu J, Jatkoe T, Berns EM, Atkins D, Foekens JA. (2005) Gene-expression profiles to predict distant metastasis of lymph-node-negative primary breast cancer. Lancet, 365 (9460):671-679.
- 48. Sotiriou C, Wirapati P, Loi S, Harris A, Fox S, Smeds J, Nordgren H, Farmer P, Praz V, Haibe-Kains B, Desmedt C, Larsimont D, Cardoso F, Peterse H, Nuyten D, Buyse M, Van de Vijver MJ, Bergh J, Piccart M, Delorenzi M. (2006) Gene expression profiling in breast cancer: understanding the molecular basis of histologic grade to improve prognosis. J Natl Cancer Inst, 98 (4):262-272.
- Ivshina AV, George J, Senko O, Mow B, Putti TC, Smeds J, Lindahl T, Pawitan Y, Hall P, Nordgren H, Wong JE, Liu ET, Bergh J, Kuznetsov VA, Miller LD. (2006) Genetic reclassification of histologic grade delineates new clinical subtypes of breast cancer. Cancer Res, 66 (21):10292-10301.
- 50. Toussaint J, Sieuwerts AM, Haibe-Kains B, Desmedt C, Rouas G, Harris AL, Larsimont D, Piccart M, Foekens JA, Durbecq V, Sotiriou C. (2009) Improvement of the clinical applicability of the Genomic Grade Index through a qRT-PCR test performed on frozen and formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded tissues. BMC Genomics, 10:424.
- 51. Paik S, Shak S, Tang G, Kim C, Baker J, Cronin M, Baehner FL, Walker MG, Watson D, Park T, Hiller W, Fisher ER, Wickerham DL, Bryant J, Wolmark N.

(2004) A multigene assay to predict recurrence of tamoxifen-treated, nodenegative breast cancer. N Engl J Med, 351 (27):2817-2826.

- 52. Paik S, Tang G, Shak S, Kim C, Baker J, Kim W, Cronin M, Baehner FL, Watson D, Bryant J, Costantino JP, Geyer CE, Jr., Wickerham DL, Wolmark N. (2006) Gene expression and benefit of chemotherapy in women with nodenegative, estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer. J Clin Oncol, 24 (23):3726-3734.
- 53. Ma XJ, Wang Z, Ryan PD, Isakoff SJ, Barmettler A, Fuller A, Muir B, Mohapatra G, Salunga R, Tuggle JT, Tran Y, Tran D, Tassin A, Amon P, Wang W, Wang W, Enright E, Stecker K, Estepa-Sabal E, Smith B, Younger J, Balis U, Michaelson J, Bhan A, Habin K, Baer TM, Brugge J, Haber DA, Erlander MG, Sgroi DC. (2004) A two-gene expression ratio predicts clinical outcome in breast cancer patients treated with tamoxifen. Cancer Cell, 5 (6):607-616.
- 54. Reis-Filho JS, Pusztai L. (2011) Gene expression profiling in breast cancer: classification, prognostication, and prediction. Lancet, 378 (9805):1812-1823.
- 55. Fan C, Oh DS, Wessels L, Weigelt B, Nuyten DS, Nobel AB, van't Veer LJ, Perou CM. (2006) Concordance among gene-expression-based predictors for breast cancer. N Engl J Med, 355 (6):560-569.
- 56. Weigelt B, Baehner FL, Reis-Filho JS. (2010) The contribution of gene expression profiling to breast cancer classification, prognostication and prediction: a retrospective of the last decade. J Pathol, 220 (2):263-280.
- 57. Parker JS, Mullins M, Cheang MC, Leung S, Voduc D, Vickery T, Davies S, Fauron C, He X, Hu Z, Quackenbush JF, Stijleman IJ, Palazzo J, Marron JS, Nobel AB, Mardis E, Nielsen TO, Ellis MJ, Perou CM, Bernard PS. (2009) Supervised risk predictor of breast cancer based on intrinsic subtypes. J Clin Oncol, 27 (8):1160-1167.
- 58. Nielsen TO, Parker JS, Leung S, Voduc D, Ebbert M, Vickery T, Davies SR, Snider J, Stijleman IJ, Reed J, Cheang MC, Mardis ER, Perou CM, Bernard PS, Ellis MJ. (2010) A comparison of PAM50 intrinsic subtyping with immunohistochemistry and clinical prognostic factors in tamoxifen-treated estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res, 16 (21):5222-5232.

- 59. Rouzier R, Perou CM, Symmans WF, Ibrahim N, Cristofanilli M, Anderson K, Hess KR, Stec J, Ayers M, Wagner P, Morandi P, Fan C, Rabiul I, Ross JS, Hortobagyi GN, Pusztai L. (2005) Breast cancer molecular subtypes respond differently to preoperative chemotherapy. Clin Cancer Res, 11 (16):5678-5685.
- 60. de Ronde JJ, Hannemann J, Halfwerk H, Mulder L, Straver ME, Vrancken Peeters MJ, Wesseling J, van de Vijver M, Wessels LF, Rodenhuis S. (2010) Concordance of clinical and molecular breast cancer subtyping in the context of preoperative chemotherapy response. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 119 (1):119-126.
- Colombo PE, Milanezi F, Weigelt B, Reis-Filho JS. (2011) Microarrays in the 2010s: the contribution of microarray-based gene expression profiling to breast cancer classification, prognostication and prediction. Breast Cancer Res, 13 (3):212.
- 62. Wirapati P, Sotiriou C, Kunkel S, Farmer P, Pradervand S, Haibe-Kains B, Desmedt C, Ignatiadis M, Sengstag T, Schutz F, Goldstein DR, Piccart M, Delorenzi M. (2008) Meta-analysis of gene expression profiles in breast cancer: toward a unified understanding of breast cancer subtyping and prognosis signatures. Breast Cancer Res, 10 (4):R65.
- 63. Coates AS, Winer EP, Goldhirsch A, Gelber RD, Gnant M, Piccart-Gebhart M, Thurlimann B, Senn HJ. (2015) -Tailoring therapies-improving the management of early breast cancer: St Gallen International Expert Consensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2015. Ann Oncol, 26 (8):1533-1546.
- 64. Gerdes J, Schwab U, Lemke H, Stein H. (1983) Production of a mouse monoclonal antibody reactive with a human nuclear antigen associated with cell proliferation. Int J Cancer, 31 (1):13-20.
- 65. Fonatsch C, Duchrow M, Rieder H, Schluter C, Gerdes J. (1991) Assignment of the human Ki-67 gene (MK167) to 10q25-qter. Genomics, 11 (2):476-477.
- 66. Schluter C, Duchrow M, Wohlenberg C, Becker MH, Key G, Flad HD, Gerdes J. (1993) The cell proliferation-associated antigen of antibody Ki-67: a very large, ubiquitous nuclear protein with numerous repeated elements, representing a new kind of cell cycle-maintaining proteins. J Cell Biol, 123 (3):513-522.

- 67. Duchrow M, Schluter C, Wohlenberg C, Flad HD, Gerdes J. (1996) Molecular characterization of the gene locus of the human cell proliferation-associated nuclear protein defined by monoclonal antibody Ki-67. Cell Prolif, 29 (1):1-12.
- 68. Kubbutat MH, Key G, Duchrow M, Schluter C, Flad HD, Gerdes J. (1994) Epitope analysis of antibodies recognising the cell proliferation associated nuclear antigen previously defined by the antibody Ki-67 (Ki-67 protein). J Clin Pathol, 47 (6):524-528.
- Isola J, Helin H, Kallioniemi OP. (1990) Immunoelectron-microscopic localization of a proliferation-associated antigen Ki-67 in MCF-7 cells. Histochem J, 22 (9):498-506.
- 70. Verheijen R, Kuijpers HJ, Schlingemann RO, Boehmer AL, van Driel R, Brakenhoff GJ, Ramaekers FC. (1989) Ki-67 detects a nuclear matrix-associated proliferation-related antigen. I. Intracellular localization during interphase. J Cell Sci, 92 (Pt 1):123-130.
- 71. Verheijen R, Kuijpers HJ, van Driel R, Beck JL, van Dierendonck JH, Brakenhoff GJ, Ramaekers FC. (1989) Ki-67 detects a nuclear matrix-associated proliferation-related antigen. II. Localization in mitotic cells and association with chromosomes. J Cell Sci, 92 (Pt 4):531-540.
- Heidebrecht HJ, Buck F, Haas K, Wacker HH, Parwaresch R. (1996) Monoclonal antibodies Ki-S3 and Ki-S5 yield new data on the 'Ki-67' proteins. Cell Prolif, 29 (7):413-425.
- 73. Bruno S, Darzynkiewicz Z. (1992) Cell cycle dependent expression and stability of the nuclear protein detected by Ki-67 antibody in HL-60 cells. Cell Prolif, 25 (1):31-40.
- 74. Beresford MJ, Wilson GD, Makris A. (2006) Measuring proliferation in breast cancer: practicalities and applications. Breast Cancer Res, 8 (6):216.
- Lopez F, Belloc F, Lacombe F, Dumain P, Reiffers J, Bernard P, Boisseau MR.
  (1991) Modalities of synthesis of Ki67 antigen during the stimulation of lymphocytes. Cytometry, 12 (1):42-49.
- Bullwinkel J, Baron-Luhr B, Ludemann A, Wohlenberg C, Gerdes J, Scholzen T. (2006) Ki-67 protein is associated with ribosomal RNA transcription in quiescent and proliferating cells. J Cell Physiol, 206 (3):624-635.

- 77. Rahmanzadeh R, Huttmann G, Gerdes J, Scholzen T. (2007) Chromophoreassisted light inactivation of pKi-67 leads to inhibition of ribosomal RNA synthesis. Cell Prolif, 40 (3):422-430.
- 78. Starborg M, Gell K, Brundell E, Hoog C. (1996) The murine Ki-67 cell proliferation antigen accumulates in the nucleolar and heterochromatic regions of interphase cells and at the periphery of the mitotic chromosomes in a process essential for cell cycle progression. J Cell Sci, 109 (Pt 1):143-153.
- Yamamoto S, Ibusuki M, Yamamoto Y, Fu P, Fujiwara S, Murakami K, Iwase H. (2013) Clinical relevance of Ki67 gene expression analysis using formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded breast cancer specimens. Breast Cancer, 20 (3):262-270.
- 80. Tan PH, Bay BH, Yip G, Selvarajan S, Tan P, Wu J, Lee CH, Li KB. (2005) Immunohistochemical detection of Ki67 in breast cancer correlates with transcriptional regulation of genes related to apoptosis and cell death. Mod Pathol, 18 (3):374-381.
- Sahebjam S, Aloyz R, Pilavdzic D, Brisson ML, Ferrario C, Bouganim N, Cohen V, Miller WH, Jr., Panasci LC. (2011) Ki 67 is a major, but not the sole determinant of Oncotype Dx recurrence score. Br J Cancer, 105 (9):1342-1345.
- Pathmanathan N, Balleine RL. (2013) Ki67 and proliferation in breast cancer. J Clin Pathol, 66 (6):512-516.
- 83. Jones RL, Salter J, A'Hern R, Nerurkar A, Parton M, Reis-Filho JS, Smith IE, Dowsett M. (2010) Relationship between oestrogen receptor status and proliferation in predicting response and long-term outcome to neoadjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 119 (2):315-323.
- 84. Yerushalmi R, Woods R, Ravdin PM, Hayes MM, Gelmon KA. (2010) Ki67 in breast cancer: prognostic and predictive potential. Lancet Oncol, 11 (2):174-183.
- Szekeres G. (1993) Detection of the Ki-67 antigen in fixed proliferating cells. Anal Cell Pathol, 5 (4):249-250.
- 86. Dowsett M, Smith IE, Ebbs SR, Dixon JM, Skene A, Griffith C, Boeddinghaus I, Salter J, Detre S, Hills M, Ashley S, Francis S, Walsh G. (2005) Short-term changes in Ki-67 during neoadjuvant treatment of primary breast cancer with

anastrozole or tamoxifen alone or combined correlate with recurrence-free survival. Clin Cancer Res, 11 (2 Pt 2):951s - 958s.

- Dowsett M, Smith IE, Ebbs SR, Dixon JM, Skene A, A'Hern R, Salter J, Detre S, Hills M, Walsh G. (2007) Prognostic value of Ki67 expression after short-term presurgical endocrine therapy for primary breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst, 99:167 170.
- 88. von Minckwitz G, Schmitt WD, Loibl S, Muller BM, Blohmer JU, Sinn BV, Eidtmann H, Eiermann W, Gerber B, Tesch H, Hilfrich J, Huober J, Fehm T, Barinoff J, Rudiger T, Erbstoesser E, Fasching PA, Karn T, Muller V, Jackisch C, Denkert C. (2013) Ki67 measured after neoadjuvant chemotherapy for primary breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res, 19 (16):4521-4531.
- Denkert C, Budczies J, von Minckwitz G, Wienert S, Loibl S, Klauschen F. (2015) Strategies for developing Ki67 as a useful biomarker in breast cancer. Breast, 24:S67–S72.
- 90. Harper-Wynne C, Ross G, Sacks N, Salter J, Nasiri N, Iqbal J, A'Hern R, Dowsett M. (2002) Effects of the aromatase inhibitor letrozole on normal breast epithelial cell proliferation and metabolic indices in postmenopausal women: a pilot study for breast cancer prevention. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 11 (7):614-621.
- 91. Clarke RB. (2003) Steroid receptors and proliferation in the human breast. Steroids, 68 (10-13):789-794.
- 92. Zhou CJ, Zhang QH, Zhang TG, Sun SZ, Li H, Wang Y, Liu ZY. (2009) Expression of ER, Ki-67 and cylinD1 in the pre-cancerous breast of Chinese patients. Pathol Oncol Res, 15 (2):153-158.
- 93. Harvey JA, Santen RJ, Petroni GR, Bovbjerg VE, Smolkin ME, Sheriff FS, Russo J. (2008) Histologic changes in the breast with menopausal hormone therapy use: correlation with breast density, estrogen receptor, progesterone receptor, and proliferation indices. Menopause, 15 (1):67-73.
- 94. Allred DC, Mohsin SK, Fuqua SA. (2001) Histological and biological evolution of human premalignant breast disease. Endocr Relat Cancer, 8 (1):47-61.

- 95. Rudas M, Neumayer R, Gnant MF, Mittelbock M, Jakesz R, Reiner A. (1997) p53 protein expression, cell proliferation and steroid hormone receptors in ductal and lobular in situ carcinomas of the breast. Eur J Cancer, 33 (1):39-44.
- 96. Shoker BS, Jarvis C, Davies MP, Iqbal M, Sibson DR, Sloane JP. (2001) Immunodetectable cyclin D(1)is associated with oestrogen receptor but not Ki67 in normal, cancerous and precancerous breast lesions. Br J Cancer, 84 (8):1064-1069.
- 97. Fabian CJ, Kimler BF, Zalles CM, Khan QJ, Mayo MS, Phillips TA, Simonsen M, Metheny T, Petroff BK. (2007) Reduction in proliferation with six months of letrozole in women on hormone replacement therapy. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 106 (1):75-84.
- 98. Okumura Y, Yamamoto Y, Zhang Z, Toyama T, Kawasoe T, Ibusuki M, Honda Y, Iyama K, Yamashita H, Iwase H. (2008) Identification of biomarkers in ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast with microinvasion. BMC Cancer, 8:287.
- 99. Ringberg A, Anagnostaki L, Anderson H, Idvall I, Ferno M. (2001) Cell biological factors in ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) of the breast-relationship to ipsilateral local recurrence and histopathological characteristics. Eur J Cancer, 37 (12):1514-1522.
- 100. Shi P, Wang M, Zhang Q, Sun J. (2008) Lipid-rich carcinoma of the breast. A clinicopathological study of 49 cases. Tumori, 94 (3):342-346.
- 101. Hisaoka M, Takamatsu Y, Hirano Y, Maeda H, Hamada T. (2006) Sebaceous carcinoma of the breast: case report and review of the literature. Virchows Arch, 449 (4):484-488.
- 102. Mathieu MC, Rouzier R, Llombart-Cussac A, Sideris L, Koscielny S, Travagli JP, Contesso G, Delaloge S, Spielmann M. (2004) The poor responsiveness of infiltrating lobular breast carcinomas to neoadjuvant chemotherapy can be explained by their biological profile. Eur J Cancer, 40 (3):342-351.
- 103. Wintzer HO, Zipfel I, Schulte-Monting J, Hellerich U, von Kleist S. (1991) Ki 67 immunostaining in human breast tumors and its relationship to prognosis.
  Cancer, 67 (2):421-428.
- 104. Trihia H, Murray S, Price K, Gelber RD, Golouh R, Goldhirsch A, Coates AS, Collins J, Castiglione-Gertsch M, Gusterson BA. (2003) Ki-67 expression in

breast carcinoma: its association with grading systems, clinical parameters, and other prognostic factors--a surrogate marker? Cancer, 97 (5):1321-1331.

- 105. Kontzoglou K, Palla V, Karaolanis G, Karaiskos I, Alexiou I, Pateras I, Konstantoudakis K, Stamatakos M. (2013) Correlation between Ki67 and breast cancer prognosis. Oncology, 84 (4):219-225.
- 106. Weikel W, Beck T, Mitze M, Knapstein PG. (1991) Immunohistochemical evaluation of growth fractions in human breast cancers using monoclonal antibody Ki-67. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 18 (3):149-154.
- 107. Molino A, Micciolo R, Turazza M, Bonetti F, Piubello Q, Bonetti A, Nortilli R, Pelosi G, Cetto GL. (1997) Ki-67 immunostaining in 322 primary breast cancers: associations with clinical and pathological variables and prognosis. Int J Cancer, 74 (4):433-437.
- 108. Bader AA, Tio J, Petru E, Buhner M, Pfahlberg A, Volkholz H, Tulusan AH. (2002) T1 breast cancer: identification of patients at low risk of axillary lymph node metastases. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 76 (1):11-17.
- 109. Wrba F, Chott A, Reiner A, Reiner G, Markis-Ritzinger E, Holzner JH. (1989) Ki-67 immunoreactivity in breast carcinomas in relation to transferrin receptor expression, estrogen receptor status and morphological criteria. An immunohistochemical study. Oncology, 46 (4):255-259.
- 110. Haerslev T, Jacobsen GK, Zedeler K. (1996) Correlation of growth fraction by Ki-67 and proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) immunohistochemistry with histopathological parameters and prognosis in primary breast carcinomas. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 37 (2):101-113.
- 111. Moriki T, Takahashi T, Kataoka H, Hiroi M, Yamane T, Hara H. (1996) Proliferation marker MIB-1 correlates well with proliferative activity evaluated by BrdU in breast cancer: an immunohistochemical study including correlation with PCNA, p53, c-erbB-2 and estrogen receptor status. Pathol Int, 46 (12):953-961.
- 112. Nicholson RI, McClelland RA, Finlay P, Eaton CL, Gullick WJ, Dixon AR, Robertson JF, Ellis IO, Blamey RW. (1993) Relationship between EGF-R, cerbB-2 protein expression and Ki67 immunostaining in breast cancer and hormone sensitivity. Eur J Cancer, 29A (7):1018-1023.

- 113. Gasparini G, Pozza F, Meli S, Reitano M, Santini G, Bevilacqua P. (1991) Breast cancer cell kinetics: immunocytochemical determination of growth fractions by monoclonal antibody Ki-67 and correlation with flow cytometric Sphase and with some features of tumor aggressiveness. Anticancer Res, 11 (6):2015-2021.
- 114. Liu S, Edgerton SM, Moore DH, 2nd, Thor AD. (2001) Measures of cell turnover (proliferation and apoptosis) and their association with survival in breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res, 7 (6):1716-1723.
- 115. Pietilainen T, Lipponen P, Aaltomaa S, Eskelinen M, Kosma VM, Syrjanen K. (1996) The important prognostic value of Ki-67 expression as determined by image analysis in breast cancer. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol, 122 (11):687-692.
- 116. Dowsett M, Nielsen TO, A'Hern R, Bartlett J, Coombes RC, Cuzick J, Ellis M, Henry NL, Hugh JC, Lively T, McShane L, Paik S, Penault-Llorca F, Prudkin L, Regan M, Salter J, Sotiriou C, Smith IE, Viale G, Zujewski JA, Hayes DF. (2011) Assessment of Ki67 in breast cancer: recommendations from the International Ki67 in Breast Cancer working group. J Natl Cancer Inst, 103 (22):1656-1664.
- 117. Charpin C, Andrac L, Vacheret H, Habib MC, Devictor B, Lavaut MN, Toga M. (1988) Multiparametric Evaluation (SAMBA) of Growth Fraction (Monoclonal Ki67) in Breast Carcinoma Tissue Sections. Cancer Research, 48 (15):4368-4374.
- 118. Stuart-Harris R, Caldas C, Pinder SE, Pharoah P. (2008) Proliferation markers and survival in early breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 85 studies in 32,825 patients. Breast, 17 (4):323-334.
- 119. Criscitiello C, Disalvatore D, De Laurentiis M, Gelao L, Fumagalli L, Locatelli M, Bagnardi V, Rotmensz N, Esposito A, Minchella I, De Placido S, Santangelo M, Viale G, Goldhirsch A, Curigliano G. (2014) High Ki-67 score is indicative of a greater benefit from adjuvant chemotherapy when added to endocrine therapy in luminal B HER2 negative and node-positive breast cancer. Breast, 23 (1):69-75.
- 120. Luporsi E, Andre F, Spyratos F, Martin PM, Jacquemier J, Penault-Llorca F, Tubiana-Mathieu N, Sigal-Zafrani B, Arnould L, Gompel A, Egele C, Poulet B,

Clough KB, Crouet H, Fourquet A, Lefranc JP, Mathelin C, Rouyer N, Serin D, Spielmann M, Haugh M, Chenard MP, Brain E, de Cremoux P, Bellocq JP. (2012) Ki-67: level of evidence and methodological considerations for its role in the clinical management of breast cancer: analytical and critical review. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 132 (3):895-915.

- 121. Petrelli F, Viale G, Cabiddu M, Barni S. (2015) Prognostic value of different cut-off levels of Ki-67 in breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 64,196 patients. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 153 (3):477-491.
- 122. Gnant M, Harbeck N, Thomssen C. (2011) St. Gallen 2011: Summary of the Consensus Discussion. Breast Care, 6 (2):136-141.
- 123. Goldhirsch A, Winer EP, Coates AS, Gelber RD, Piccart-Gebhart M, Thurlimann B, Senn HJ. (2013) Personalizing the treatment of women with early breast cancer: highlights of the St Gallen International Expert Consensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2013. Ann Oncol, 24 (9):2206-2223.
- 124. Cserni G, Voros A, Liepniece-Karele I, Bianchi S, Vezzosi V, Grabau D, Sapino A, Castellano I, Regitnig P, Foschini MP, Zolota V, Varga Z, Figueiredo P, Decker T, Focke C, Kulka J, Kaya H, Reiner-Concin A, Amendoeira I, Callagy G, Caffrey E, Wesseling J, Wells C. (2014) Distribution pattern of the Ki67 labelling index in breast cancer and its implications for choosing cut-off values. Breast, 23 (3):259-263.
- 125. Senkus E, Kyriakides S, Penault-Llorca F, Poortmans P, Thompson A, Zackrisson S, Cardoso F. (2013) Primary breast cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol, 24 Suppl 6:vi7-23.
- 126. Harris L, Fritsche H, Mennel R, Norton L, Ravdin P, Taube S, Somerfield MR, Hayes DF, Bast RC, Jr. (2007) American Society of Clinical Oncology 2007 update of recommendations for the use of tumor markers in breast cancer. J Clin Oncol, 25 (33):5287-5312.
- 127. Harris LN, Ismaila N, McShane LM, Andre F, Collyar DE, Gonzalez-Angulo AM, Hammond EH, Kuderer NM, Liu MC, Mennel RG, Van Poznak C, Bast RC, Hayes DF. (2016) Use of Biomarkers to Guide Decisions on Adjuvant Systemic Therapy for Women With Early-Stage Invasive Breast Cancer:

American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Oncol, 34 (10):1134-1150.

- 128. Fasching PA, Heusinger K, Haeberle L, Niklos M, Hein A, Bayer CM, Rauh C, Schulz-Wendtland R, Bani MR, Schrauder M, Kahmann L, Lux MP, Strehl JD, Hartmann A, Dimmler A, Beckmann MW, Wachter DL. (2011) Ki67, chemotherapy response, and prognosis in breast cancer patients receiving neoadjuvant treatment. BMC Cancer, 11:486.
- 129. Balmativola D, Marchio C, Maule M, Chiusa L, Annaratone L, Maletta F, Montemurro F, Kulka J, Figueiredo P, Varga Z, Liepniece-Karele I, Cserni G, Arkoumani E, Amendoeira I, Callagy G, Reiner-Concin A, Cordoba A, Bianchi S, Decker T, Glaser D, Focke C, van Diest P, Grabau D, Lips E, Wesseling J, Arisio R, Medico E, Wells C, Sapino A. (2014) Pathological non-response to chemotherapy in a neoadjuvant setting of breast cancer: an inter-institutional study. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 148 (3):511-523.
- 130. Viale G, Giobbie-Hurder A, Regan MM, Coates AS, Mastropasqua MG, Dell'Orto P, Maiorano E, MacGrogan G, Braye SG, Ohlschlegel C, Neven P, Orosz Z, Olszewski WP, Knox F, Thurlimann B, Price KN, Castiglione-Gertsch M, Gelber RD, Gusterson BA, Goldhirsch A. (2008) Prognostic and predictive value of centrally reviewed Ki-67 labeling index in postmenopausal women with endocrine-responsive breast cancer: results from Breast International Group Trial 1-98 comparing adjuvant tamoxifen with letrozole. J Clin Oncol, 26 (34):5569-5575.
- 131. Penault-Llorca F, Andre F, Sagan C, Lacroix-Triki M, Denoux Y, Verriele V, Jacquemier J, Baranzelli MC, Bibeau F, Antoine M, Lagarde N, Martin AL, Asselain B, Roche H. (2009) Ki67 expression and docetaxel efficacy in patients with estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer. J Clin Oncol, 27 (17):2809-2815.
- 132. Dumontet C, Krajewska M, Treilleux I, Mackey JR, Martin M, Rupin M, Lafanechere L, Reed JC. (2010) BCIRG 001 molecular analysis: prognostic factors in node-positive breast cancer patients receiving adjuvant chemotherapy. Clin Cancer Res, 16 (15):3988-3997.
- 133. Kos Z, Dabbs DJ. (2016) Biomarker assessment and molecular testing for prognostication in breast cancer. Histopathology, 68 (1):70-85.

- Pinhel IF, Macneill FA, Hills MJ, Salter J, Detre S, A'Hern R, Nerurkar A, Osin P, Smith IE, Dowsett M. (2010) Extreme loss of immunoreactive p-Akt and p-Erk1/2 during routine fixation of primary breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res, 12 (5):R76.
- 135. Bai Y, Tolles J, Cheng H, Siddiqui S, Gopinath A, Pectasides E, Camp RL, Rimm DL, Molinaro AM. (2011) Quantitative assessment shows loss of antigenic epitopes as a function of pre-analytic variables. Lab Invest, 91 (8):1253-1261.
- 136. Rossi S, Laurino L, Furlanetto A, Chinellato S, Orvieto E, Canal F, Facchetti F, Dei Tos AP. (2005) Rabbit Monoclonal Antibodies: A Comparative Study Between a Novel Category of Immunoreagents and the Corresponding Mouse Monoclonal Antibodies. American Journal of Clinical Pathology, 124 (2):295-302.
- Zabaglo L, Salter J, Anderson H, Quinn E, Hills M, Detre S, A'Hern R, Dowsett M. (2010) Comparative validation of the SP6 antibody to Ki67 in breast cancer. Journal of Clinical Pathology, 63 (9):800-804.
- Lindboe CF, von der OG, Torp SH. (2003) Determination of proliferation index in neoplasms using different Ki-67 equivalent antibodies. APMIS, 111:567 -570.
- 139. Fasanella S, Leonardi E, Cantaloni C, Eccher C, Bazzanella I, Aldovini D, Bragantini E, Morelli L, Cuorvo LV, Ferro A, Gasperetti F, Berlanda G, Dalla Palma P, Barbareschi M. (2011) Proliferative activity in human breast cancer: Ki-67 automated evaluation and the influence of different Ki-67 equivalent antibodies. Diagnostic Pathology, 6 (Suppl 1):S7.
- 140. Voros A, Csorgo E, Kovari B, Lazar P, Kelemen G, Rusz O, Nyari T, Cserni G. (2015) Different methods of pretreatment Ki-67 labeling index evaluation in core biopsies of breast cancer patients treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy and their relation to response to therapy. Pathol Oncol Res, 21 (1):147-155.
- 141. Varga Z, Cassoly E, Li Q, Oehlschlegel C, Tapia C, Lehr HA, Klingbiel D, Thurlimann B, Ruhstaller T. (2015) Standardization for Ki-67 assessment in moderately differentiated breast cancer. A retrospective analysis of the SAKK 28/12 study. PLoS One, 10 (4):e0123435.

- 142. Polley MY, Leung SC, McShane LM, Gao D, Hugh JC, Mastropasqua MG, Viale G, Zabaglo LA, Penault-Llorca F, Bartlett JM, Gown AM, Symmans WF, Piper T, Mehl E, Enos RA, Hayes DF, Dowsett M, Nielsen TO. (2013) An international Ki67 reproducibility study. J Natl Cancer Inst, 105 (24):1897-1906.
- 143. Soenksen D. (2009) Digital pathology at the crossroads of major health care trends: corporate innovation as an engine for change. Arch Pathol Lab Med, 133 (4):555-559.
- 144. Kayser K, Borkenfeld S, Kayser G. (2012) How to introduce virtual microscopy (VM) in routine diagnostic pathology: constraints, ideas, and solutions. Anal Cell Pathol (Amst), 35 (1):3-10.
- 145. Kayser K, Gortler J, Borkenfeld S, Kayser G. (2011) How to measure diagnosisassociated information in virtual slides. Diagn Pathol, 6 Suppl 1:S9.
- 146. Laurinavicius A, Plancoulaine B, Laurinaviciene A, Herlin P, Meskauskas R, Baltrusaityte I, Besusparis J, Dasevicius D, Elie N, Iqbal Y, Bor C. (2014) A methodology to ensure and improve accuracy of Ki67 labelling index estimation by automated digital image analysis in breast cancer tissue. Breast Cancer Res, 16 (2):R35.
- Riber-Hansen R, Vainer B, Steiniche T. (2012) Digital image analysis: a review of reproducibility, stability and basic requirements for optimal results. APMIS, 120 (4):276-289.
- 148. Wolff AC, Hammond ME, Schwartz JN, Hagerty KL, Allred DC, Cote RJ, Dowsett M, Fitzgibbons PL, Hanna WM, Langer A, McShane LM, Paik S, Pegram MD, Perez EA, Press MF, Rhodes A, Sturgeon C, Taube SE, Tubbs R, Vance GH, van de Vijver M, Wheeler TM, Hayes DF. (2007) American Society of Clinical Oncology/College of American Pathologists guideline recommendations for human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 testing in breast cancer. J Clin Oncol, 25 (1):118-145.
- 149. Wolff AC, Hammond ME, Hicks DG, Dowsett M, McShane LM, Allison KH, Allred DC, Bartlett JM, Bilous M, Fitzgibbons P, Hanna W, Jenkins RB, Mangu PB, Paik S, Perez EA, Press MF, Spears PA, Vance GH, Viale G, Hayes DF. (2013) Recommendations for human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 testing

in breast cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology/College of American Pathologists clinical practice guideline update. J Clin Oncol, 31 (31):3997-4013.

- Ruifrok AC, Johnston DA. (2001) Quantification of histochemical staining by color deconvolution. Anal Quant Cytol Histol, 23 (4):291-299.
- Altman DG Practical statistics for medical research. Chapman and Hall./CRC press, London, 1990
- 152. McBride GB (2005) A proposal for strength-of-agreement criteria for Lin's Concordance Correlation Coefficient. NIWA Client Report: HAM2005-062.,
- 153. Ekholm M, Beglerbegovic S, Grabau D, Lovgren K, Malmstrom P, Hartman L, Ferno M. (2014) Immunohistochemical assessment of Ki67 with antibodies SP6 and MIB1 in primary breast cancer: a comparison of prognostic value and reproducibility. Histopathology, 65 (2):252-260.
- 154. Polley MY, Leung SC, Gao D, Mastropasqua MG, Zabaglo LA, Bartlett JM, McShane LM, Enos RA, Badve SS, Bane AL, Borgquist S, Fineberg S, Lin MG, Gown AM, Grabau D, Gutierrez C, Hugh JC, Moriya T, Ohi Y, Osborne CK, Penault-Llorca FM, Piper T, Porter PL, Sakatani T, Salgado R, Starczynski J, Laenkholm AV, Viale G, Dowsett M, Hayes DF, Nielsen TO. (2015) An international study to increase concordance in Ki67 scoring. Mod Pathol, 28 (6):778-786.
- 155. Leung SCY, Nielsen TO, Zabaglo L, Arun I, Badve SS, Bane AL, Bartlett JMS, Borgquist S, Chang MC, Dodson A, Enos RA, Fineberg S, Focke CM, Gao D, Gown AM, Grabau D, Gutierrez C, Hugh JC, Kos Z, Laenkholm AV, Lin MG, Mastropasqua MG, Moriya T, Nofech-Mozes S, Osborne CK, Penault-Llorca FM, Piper T, Sakatani T, Salgado R, Starczynski J, Viale G, Hayes DF, McShane LM, Dowsett M. (2016) Analytical validation of a standardized scoring protocol for Ki67: phase 3 of an international multicenter collaboration. NPJ Breast Cancer, 2:16014.
- 156. Denkert C, von Minckwitz G. (2014) Reply to Ki67 in breast cancer: a useful prognostic marker! Ann Oncol, 25 (2):542-543.
- 157. Denkert C, Loibl S, Muller BM, Eidtmann H, Schmitt WD, Eiermann W, Gerber B, Tesch H, Hilfrich J, Huober J, Fehm T, Barinoff J, Jackisch C, Prinzler J, Rudiger T, Erbstosser E, Blohmer JU, Budczies J, Mehta KM, von Minckwitz

G. (2013) Ki67 levels as predictive and prognostic parameters in pretherapeutic breast cancer core biopsies: a translational investigation in the neoadjuvant GeparTrio trial. Ann Oncol, 24 (11):2786-2793.

- 158. Mikami Y, Ueno T, Yoshimura K, Tsuda H, Kurosumi M, Masuda S, Horii R, Toi M, Sasano H. (2013) Interobserver concordance of Ki67 labeling index in breast cancer: Japan Breast Cancer Research Group Ki67 ring study. Cancer Sci, 104 (11):1539-1543.
- 159. Stalhammar G, Fuentes Martinez N, Lippert M, Tobin NP, Molholm I, Kis L, Rosin G, Rantalainen M, Pedersen L, Bergh J, Grunkin M, Hartman J. (2016) Digital image analysis outperforms manual biomarker assessment in breast cancer. Mod Pathol, 29 (4):318-329.
- 160. Zhong F, Bi R, Yu B, Yang F, Yang W, Shui R. (2016) A Comparison of Visual Assessment and Automated Digital Image Analysis of Ki67 Labeling Index in Breast Cancer. PLoS One, 11 (2):e0150505.
- 161. Maeda I, Abe K, Koizumi H, Nakajima C, Tajima S, Aoki H, Tsuchiya J, Tsuchiya S, Tsuchiya K, Shimo A, Tsugawa K, Ueno T, Tatsunami S, Takagi M. (2015) Comparison between Ki67 labeling index determined using image analysis software with virtual slide system and that determined visually in breast cancer. Breast Cancer,
- 162. Klauschen F, Wienert S, Schmitt WD, Loibl S, Gerber B, Blohmer JU, Huober J, Rudiger T, Erbstosser E, Mehta K, Lederer B, Dietel M, Denkert C, von Minckwitz G. (2015) Standardized Ki67 Diagnostics Using Automated Scoring-Clinical Validation in the GeparTrio Breast Cancer Study. Clin Cancer Res, 21 (16):3651-3657.
- 163. Joshi S, Watkins J, Gazinska P, Brown JP, Gillett CE, Grigoriadis A, Pinder SE. (2015) Digital imaging in the immunohistochemical evaluation of the proliferation markers Ki67, MCM2 and Geminin, in early breast cancer, and their putative prognostic value. BMC Cancer, 15:546.
- 164. Bossuyt V, Provenzano E, Symmans WF, Boughey JC, Coles C, Curigliano G, Dixon JM, Esserman LJ, Fastner G, Kuehn T, Peintinger F, von Minckwitz G, White J, Yang W, Badve S, Denkert C, MacGrogan G, Penault-Llorca F, Viale G, Cameron D. (2015) Recommendations for standardized pathological

characterization of residual disease for neoadjuvant clinical trials of breast cancer by the BIG-NABCG collaboration. Ann Oncol, 26 (7):1280-1291.

- 165. Provenzano E, Bossuyt V, Viale G, Cameron D, Badve S, Denkert C, MacGrogan G, Penault-Llorca F, Boughey J, Curigliano G, Dixon JM, Esserman L, Fastner G, Kuehn T, Peintinger F, von Minckwitz G, White J, Yang W, Symmans WF. (2015) Standardization of pathologic evaluation and reporting of postneoadjuvant specimens in clinical trials of breast cancer: recommendations from an international working group. Mod Pathol, 28 (9):1185-1201.
- 166. Goldhirsch A, Wood WC, Coates AS, Gelber RD, Thurlimann B, Senn HJ. (2011) Strategies for subtypes--dealing with the diversity of breast cancer: highlights of the St. Gallen International Expert Consensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2011. Ann Oncol, 22 (8):1736-1747.

## **10. BIBLIOGRAPHY OF THE CANDIDATE'S PUBLICATIONS**

- 10.1. Publications related to the PhD thesis
  - <u>Balazs Acs</u>, Lilla Madaras, Attila K. Kovacs, Tamas Micsik, Anna-Maria Tokes, Balazs Gyorffy, Janina Kulka, Marcell A. Szasz - Reproducibility and Prognostic Potential of Ki-67 Proliferation Index when Comparing Digital-Image Analysis with Standard Semi-Quantitative Evaluation in Breast Cancer. – Pathology & Oncology Research. 2017 Apr 11. doi: 10.1007/s12253-017-0220-8. – Impact factor: 1.736 http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12253-017-0220-8
  - 2. Balazs Acs, Veronika Zambo, Laura Vizkeleti, Marcell A. Szasz, Lilla Madaras, Gyongyver Szentmartoni, Timea Tokes, Bela A. Molnar, Istvan A. Molnar, Stefan Vari-Kakas, Janina Kulka, Anna-Maria Tokes Ki-67 as a controversial predictive and prognostic marker in breast cancer patients treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy. Diagnostic Pathology. 2017 Feb 21. doi: 10.1186/s13000-017-0608-5. Impact factor: 2.025 http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s13000-017-0608-5
  - 3. Balazs Acs, Janina Kulka, Attila K. Kovacs, Ivett Teleki, Anna-Maria Tokes, Agnes Meczker, Balazs Gyorffy, Lilla Madaras, Tibor Krenacs, Marcell A. Szasz Comparison of five Ki67 antibodies regarding reproducibility and capacity to predict prognosis in breast cancer: Does the antibody matter? Human Pathology. 2017 Feb 8. pii: S0046-8177(17)30032-1. doi: 10.1016/j.humpath.2017.01.011. Impact factor: 3.014 <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.humpath.2017.01.011">http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.humpath.2017.01.011</a>

- 10.2. Publications not related to the PhD thesis
  - <u>Balazs Acs</u>, Lilla Madaras, Anna-Maria Tokes, Attila K. Kovacs, Erzsebet Kovacs, Magdolna Ozsvari-Vidakovich, Adam Karaszi, Ede Birtalan, Magdolna Dank, Marcell A. Szasz, Janina Kulka - PD-1, PD-L1 and CTLA-4 in pregnancy-related - and in early-onset breast cancer: A comparative study.
     Breast. 2017 Oct;35:69-77. doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2017.06.013. – Impact factor: 2.801

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.breast.2017.06.013

- 2. Istvan A. Molnar, Bela A. Molnar, Laura Vizkeleti, Krisztina Fekete, Judit Tamas, Peter Deak, Judit Moldvay, Stefan Vari-Kakas, Csilla Szundi, Marcell A. Szasz, <u>Balazs Acs</u>, Janina Kulka, Anna-Maria Tokes - Breast carcinoma subtypes show different patterns of metastatic behavior. - Virchows Archiv. 2017 Jan 19. doi: 10.1007/s00428-017-2065-7. – Impact factor: 2.848 http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00428-017-2065-7
- 3. Libero Santarpia, Giulia Bottai, Carlotta Raschioni, Borbála Székely, Luca Di Tommaso, Attila Szasz, Agnese Losurdo, Gyorffy Balazs, <u>Balazs Acs</u>, Rosalba Torrisi, Niki Karachaliou, Timea Tokes, Michele Caruso, Janina Kulka, Massimo Roncalli, Armando Santoro, Alberto Mantovani, Rafael Rosell, and Jorge Reis-Filho. **AXL associated tumor inflammation as a poor prognostic signature in chemotherapy-treated triple-negative breast cancer patients.** npj Breast Cancer. 2, Article number: 16033 (2016) doi:10.1038/npjbcancer.2016.33. **Impact factor: 0.000** <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/npjbcancer.2016.33">http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/npjbcancer.2016.33</a>

<u>4.</u> Emese Irma Agoston, Tamas Micsik, <u>Balazs Acs</u>, Krisztina Fekete, Oszkár Hahn, Zsolt Baranyai, Kristof Dede, György Bodoky, Attila Bursics, Janina Kulka, Tibor Krenacs, Balazs Győrffy, Laszlo Harsányi, A. Marcell Szasz. – In depth evaluation of the prognostic and predictive utility of PTEN immunohistochemistry in colorectal carcinomas: performance of three antibodies with emphasis on intracellular and intratumoral heterogeneity. - Diagnostic Pathology. 2016 Jul 8;11(1):61. doi: 10.1186/s13000-016-0508-0. - Impact factor: 2.025

http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s13000-016-0508-0

 <u>5.</u> <u>Balazs Acs</u>, Nora Szekely, A. Marcell Szasz, Gabor Lotz, Tamas Szekely, Roland Istok, Eszter Szekely, Lilla Madaras, Janina Kulka, Balazs Jaray. -Reliability of immunocytochemistry and fluorescence in situ hybridization on fine needle aspiration cytology samples of breast cancers: a comparative study. – Diagnostic Cytopathology. 2016 March, DOI: 10.1002/dc.23463. -Impact factor: 1.161

http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/dc.23463

- <u>Balazs Acs</u>, Tibor Szarvas, Nora Szekely, Peter Nyirady, A. Marcell Szasz Current State of ERG as Biomarker in Prostatic Adenocarcinoma. –
  Current Cancer Drug Targets. 2015;15(8):643-51. Impact factor: 3.707
  <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.2174/156800961508151001100829">http://dx.doi.org/10.2174/156800961508151001100829</a>
- <u>7.</u> Gabor Cserni, Rita Bori, Istvan Sejben, Emese I. Agoston, <u>Balazs Acs</u>, A. Marcell Szasz The Petersen prognostic index revisited in Dukes B colon cancer–inter-institutional differences. Pathology Research and Practice. 2015 September, DOI: 0.1016/j.prp.2015.08.006. Impact factor: 1.543 <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.prp.2015.08.006">http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.prp.2015.08.006</a>

- <u>8.</u> Janina Kulka, Anna-Maria Tokes, Lilla Madaras, Attila Kovacs, <u>Balazs Acs</u>, Ildiko Illyes, Orsolya Kiss, Borbala Szekely, Gabor Lotz, A. Marcell Szasz – [Clinico-pathologically focused breast cancer research.] – Hungarian Oncology. 2015;59(4):286-91.- Imapct factor: 0.000 <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26665188</u>
- 9. Balazs Acs, A. Marcell Szasz, Janina Kulka, Laszlo Harsanyi, Attila Zarand [Is radicality enough? Transanal endoscopic microsurgery for the treatment of rectal neoplasia – clinicopathological viewpoint.] – Hungarian Surgery. 2014; 67(6):329–333. – Impact Factor: 0.000 http://dx.doi.org/10.1556/MaSeb.67.2014.6.2
- <u>10.</u> A. Marcell Szasz, <u>Balazs Acs</u>, Emese Agoston Zsofia Sztupinszki, Anna-Maria Tokes Liliana Szittya, Borbala Szekely, Miklós Szendroi, Qiyuan Li, Laszlo Harsanyi, Jozsef Timar, Zoltan Szallasi, Charles Swanton, Balazs Gyorffy, Janina Kulka [Simplified, low-cost gene expression profiling for the prediction of outcome in breast cancer based on routine histologic specimens.] Hungarian Weekly Journal of Medicine. 2015; 154(16):627–632.
   Impact Factor: 0.000

http://dx.doi.org/10.1556/OH.2013.29590

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I greatly acknowledge with immense pleasure in expressing my deep sense of gratitude to my supervisor, **Attila Marcell Szász** for his support and guidance throughout my student scientific - and Ph.D. program.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the head of our research working group, **Janina Kulka** for her devoted guidance and for sharing her pearls of wisdom with me during my medical and Ph.D. studies.

I gratefully thank the members of our research group, **Anna-Mária Tőkés and Lilla Madaras** for their solid support and advices during several researches.

I truly thank József Tímár, Zsuzsa Schaff, András Kiss, Gábor Lotz, Balázs Győrffy, Gábor Cserni, Gábor Kiszler, Attila Kovács, Tamás Micsik and Magdolna Dank who provided insight, expertise and comments that greatly improved my scientific work.

I am grateful to Erika Sklániczné Samodai for her technical support.

I greatly appreciate **Erzsébet Kovács** for her tireless support and help.

Words are powerless to express my deep gratitude to my loving wife, **Orsolya Péter**-**Ács** whose endurance, kindness and innocent smile are my driving force. I thank her endlessly for making it possible to reach my goals.

I gratefully thank to my friend, Ede Birtalan for his infinite support.

Finally, my special thanks to my mother, **Margit Ácsné Lukács**, my father, **Ferenc Ács** and my sister, **Andrea Handlné Ács** for their constant support and help.